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FORM 2A 
 

LISTING STATEMENT 

This Listing Statement must be used for all initial applications for listing and for Issuers 
resulting from a fundamental change.  The Exchange requires prospectus level 
disclosure in the Listing Statement (other than certain financial disclosure and interim 
Management's Discussion and Analysis) and can require that the Issuer include 
additional disclosure. 

General Instructions 

(a) Please prepare this Listing Statement using the format set out below.  The 
sequence of questions must not be altered nor should questions be omitted or 
left unanswered.  The answers to the following items must be in narrative form.  
When the answer to any item is negative or not applicable to the Issuer, state it in 
a sentence.  The title to each item must precede the answer. 

(b) In this form, the term “Issuer” includes the applicant Issuer and any of its 
subsidiaries. 

(c) In determining the degree of detail required, a standard of materiality should be 
applied. Materiality is a matter of judgment in a particular circumstance, and 
should generally be determined in relation to an item's significance to investors, 
analysts and other users of the information. An item of information, or an 
aggregate of items, is considered material if it is probable that its omission or 
misstatement would influence or change an investment decision with respect to 
the Issuer's securities. In determining whether information is material, take into 
account both quantitative and qualitative factors. The potential significance of 
items should be considered individually rather than on a net basis, if the items 
have an offsetting effect. This concept of materiality is consistent with the 
financial reporting notion of materiality contained in the Handbook. 

(d) Terms used and not defined in this form are defined or interpreted in Policy 1 – 
Interpretation. 

(e) For Issuers that are re-qualifying for listing following a fundamental change, 
provide historic and current details on  

(i) the Issuer  

(ii) all other companies or businesses that are involved in the fundamental 
change (the “target”); and 

(iii) the entity that will result from the fundamental change (the "New 
Issuer").   
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Information concerning the Issuer that was contained in the most recent 
Listing Statement may be incorporated by reference, but this statement must 
indicate if any of the information in the prior statement has changed (e.g. 
describing a business that will no longer be undertaken by the New Issuer). 
Information concerning assets or lines of business of the target that will not be 
part of the New Issuer's business should not be included. 

(f) This Listing Statement provides prospectus-level disclosure. It will be amended 
from time to time to reflect any changes to the prospectus disclosure 
requirements. If changed, the new form is to be used for the next listing 
statement the Issuer is required to file. The Issuer does not have to amend a 
listing statement currently on file to reflect any new disclosure requirements.  

This document is being prepared in accordance with Section 13.1(f) of Policy 5 
which requires the Issuer to prepare an annually-updated Listing Statement 
completed to reflect all changes to information appearing in the previously 
posted Listing Statement to be posted concurrently with the Listed Issuer's 
audited annual financial statements. References throughout this document to the 
“2021 Listing Statement” are references to the Issuer’s Listing Statement date 
October 29, 2021. Initially capitalized terms used but not defined herein have the 
meaning given to such terms in the 2021 Listing Statement. 

This Listing Statement contains forward-looking statements. Please refer to 
Section 1.2 “Information Concerning Forward-Looking Statements” in the 2021 
Listing Statement. 

In this Listing Statement, unless otherwise indicated, all dollar amounts are 
expressed in Canadian dollars and references to $ are to Canadian dollars.   
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2. Corporate Structure 
 

2.1 State the full corporate name of the Issuer or, if the Issuer is an unincorporated 
entity, the full name under which the entity exists and carries on business and 
the address(es) of the Issuer's head and registered office. No change since 
2021 Listing Statement. 

 
2.2 State the statute under which the Issuer is incorporated or continued or 

organized or, if the Issuer is an unincorporated entity, the laws of the 
jurisdiction or foreign jurisdiction under which the Issuer is established and 
exists.   Describe the substance of any material amendments to the articles or 
other constating or establishing documents of the Issuer. No change since 
2021 Listing Statement. 

 
2.3 Describe, by way of a diagram or otherwise, the intercorporate relationships 

among the Issuer and the Issuer's subsidiaries.  For each subsidiary state  
 

(a) the percentage of votes attaching to all voting securities of the subsidiary 
represented by voting securities beneficially owned, or over which control 
or direction is exercised, by the Issuer;  

 
(b) the place of incorporation or continuance; and 

 
(c) the percentage of each class of restricted shares beneficially owned, or 

over which control or direction is exercised, by the Issuer. 
No change since 2021 Listing Statement except as set out below. 
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2.4 If the Issuer is requalifying following a fundamental change or is proposing an 
acquisition, amalgamation, merger, reorganization or arrangement, describe by 
way of diagram or otherwise these intercorporate relationships both before and 
after the completion of the proposed transaction. No change since 2021 
Listing Statement. 

 
Instruction:  A particular subsidiary may be omitted if 
(a) the total assets of the subsidiary do not constitute more than 10 per cent of the 

consolidated assets of the Issuer at the most recent financial year end;  
(b) the sales and operating revenues of the subsidiary do not exceed 10 per cent of the 

consolidated sales and operating revenues of the Issuer at the most recent financial year 
end; and 

(c) the conditions in paragraphs (a) and (b) would be satisfied if 
(i) the subsidiaries that may be omitted under paragraphs (a) and (b) were considered 

in the aggregate, and 
(ii) the reference to 10 per cent in those paragraphs was changed to 20 per cent. 

 
2.5 Non-corporate Issuers and Issuers incorporated outside of Canada must 

describe how their governing legislation or constating documents differ 
materially from Canadian corporate legislation with respect to the corporate 
governance principles set out in Policy 4. Not applicable. 

 
3. General Development of the Business 
 
3.1 Describe the general development of the Issuer's business over its three most 

recently completed financial years and any subsequent period.  Include only 
major events or conditions that have influenced the general development of the 
Issuer's business.  If the business consists of the production or distribution of 
more than one product or the rendering of more than one kind of service, 
describe the principal products or services.  Also discuss changes in the 
business of the Issuer that are expected to occur during the current financial 
year of the Issuer.  

 
No change since 2021 Listing Statement except as disclosed below. 
 
On November 5, 2021, the Issuer completed a change of business transaction to 
become a foods products company focused on production and distribution of 
healthy, gluten free and plant-based foods products. and changed its name to 
"The Good Flour Corp." (the “VGAN Transaction”) Additional details regarding 
the VGAN Transaction are contained in the Issuer’s Listing Statement (Form 2A) 
dated October 29, 2021 (the “Listing Statement”) which is filed on SEDAR at 
www.sedar.com. 
 
The Issuer has commenced operations at its new 7,000 square foot production 
facility. The Issuer’s fully automated production line from Paxiom Inc., of 
Montreal, Quebec has been completed and is now operational.  

http://www.sedar.com/
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The automated production line from Paxiom Inc. will increase GFCO’s output by a 
multiple of eight to ten times depending on the product sku, and produce up to 
2500 bags an hour. GFCO expects that a single shift will be able to generate an 
annual $5 million retail value in product with a single daily shift and an annual $10 
million retail value in product with two daily shifts. This will greatly expand 
GFCO’s ability to serve and expand its foodservice and retail clients in the 
Canadian and United States markets.  GFCO continues to operate from its current 
production facility, but has made equipment changes to focus fully on its baked 
line of gluten-free buns and pizza shells for its growing customer base. 
 
The Issuer also confirmed it will expand production of its exciting line of 
superfood packed alt-wheat flours into the United States.  GFCO has entered into 
a co-packing arrangement with a premier United States based flour-milling and 
ingredient company. The arrangement opens a significant opportunity to ramp-up 
production in the United States of GFCO’s gluten-free, allergen-free, additive-free, 
hassle-free products, including flour, fried chicken batter, fish & chip batter, pizza 
& pasta mix, tempura batter, pancake and waffle blend and cake mix. The co-
packer has the production capacity for GFCO’s dry mixes in volumes up to 40,000 
pounds per day.  Actual production will be based on consumer and food service 
demand for GFCO’s products. 
 
GFCO’s newly rebranded products can now be found on the shelves of the 
following lower mainland BC retailers: Gourmet Warehouse, Nature’s Pickings, 
Well Seasoned and Fish Counter. GFCO’s products are now available on shelf, 
and in the coming weeks the company will be announcing more well-known 
outlets to already growing list. GFCO has a comprehensive list of existing food 
service clients that include Earls, Fairmont Hotels & Resorts, Virtuous Pie, 
Panago Pizza, Choices Markets and Stongs. 
 
GFCO has confirmed that its gluten free pizza crust is now available at Panago 
Pizza locations nationwide effective October 2022. Panago is a Canadian pizza 
delivery and takeout chain with over 195 locations across five provinces and 
territories. 
 
GFCO has signed sales and distribution arrangements with Harvest Sherwood 
Food Distributors and KeHE Distributors, LLC for wholesale distribution of its line 
of superfood packed alt-wheat flours into the United States.   
 
GFCO has also received its first purchase order from U.S. based Sprouts Farmers 
Market. Sprouts is one of the largest and fastest growing specialty retailers of 
fresh, natural and organic food in the United States, with nearly 380 stores in 23 
states. GFCO will begin a national rollout to all Sprouts locations across the 
United States. GFCO will be providing 2 of its top selling skus: Artisan Fried 
Chicken Mix and Artisan Fish Batter. The products will be available and located in 
the specialty meat and fish section of all Sprouts locations. 
 



 
FORM 2A – LISTING STATEMENT 

January 2015 
Page 8 

 
  

 
 
Instruction: Include the business of subsidiaries only insofar as is necessary to explain the 
character and development of the business conducted by the combined enterprise. 
 
3.2 Disclose: No change since 2021 Listing Statement. 
 

(1) (a) any significant acquisition completed by the Issuer or any  significant 
probable acquisition proposed by the Issuer, for which financial 
statements would be required under National Instrument 41-101 
General Prospectus Requirements if this Listing Statement were a 
prospectus; and 

 
(b) any significant disposition completed by the Issuer during the most 

recently completed financial year or the current financial year for 
which pro forma financial statements would be required under 
National Instrument 41-101 General Prospectus Requirements if this 
Listing Statement were a prospectus.  

 
(2)  Under paragraph (1) include particulars of 

 
(a) the nature of the assets acquired or disposed of or to be acquired or 

disposed of; 
 

(b) the actual or proposed date of each significant acquisition or 
significant disposition; 

 
(c) the consideration, both monetary and non-monetary paid, or to be 

paid, to or by the Issuer; 
 

(d) any material obligations that must be complied with to keep any 
significant acquisition or significant disposition agreement in good 
standing; 

 
(e) the effect of the significant acquisition or significant disposition on the 

operating results and financial position of the Issuer; 
 

(f) any valuation opinion obtained within the last 12 months required 
under Canadian securities legislation, a directive of a Canadian 
securities regulatory authority, or a requirement of a Canadian stock 
exchange or other Canadian market to support the value of the 
consideration received or paid by the Issuer or any of its subsidiaries 
for the assets, including the name of the author, the date of the 
opinion, the assets to which the opinion relates and the value 
attributed to the assets; and 
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(g) whether the transaction is with a Related Party of the Issuer and if so, 
disclose the identity of the other parties and the relationship of the 
other parties to the Issuer. 

 
3.3 Discuss any trend, commitment, event or uncertainty that is both presently 

known to management and reasonably expected to have a material effect on 
the Issuer's business, financial condition or results of operations, providing 
forward-looking information based on the Issuer's expectations as of the date of 
the Listing Statement. No change since 2021 Listing Statement. 

 
Instruction: Issuers are encouraged, but not required, to supply other forward-looking 
information.  Optional forward-looking disclosure involves anticipating a future trend or event or 
anticipating a less predictable effect of a known event, trend or uncertainty.  This other forward-
looking information is to be distinguished from presently-known information that is reasonably 
expected to have a material effect on future operating results, such as known future increases in 
costs of labour or materials, which information is required to be disclosed. 
 
4 Narrative Description of the Business 
 
4.1 General No change since 2021 Listing Statement. 
 

(1) Describe the business of the Issuer with reference to the reportable 
operating segments as defined in the Handbook and the Issuer's business 
in general.  Include the following for each reportable operating segment of 
the Issuer: 

 
(a) state the business objectives that the Issuer expects to accomplish in 

the forthcoming 12-month period; 
 
(b) describe each significant event or milestone that must occur for the 

business objectives in (a) to be accomplished and state the specific 
time period in which each event is expected to occur and the costs 
related to each event; 

 
(c) disclose the total funds available to the Issuer and the following 

breakdown of those funds: 
 

(i) the estimated consolidated working capital (deficiency) as of the 
most recent month end prior to filing the Listing Statement, and 

 
(ii) the total other funds, and the sources of such funds, available to 

be used to achieve the objectives and milestones set out in 
paragraphs (a) and (b); and 

 
(d) describe in reasonable detail and, if appropriate, using tabular form, 

each of the principal purposes, with approximate amounts, for which 
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the funds available described under the preceding paragraph will be 
used by the Issuer. 
 

Instruction: 
(1) The description of the Issuer's business objectives should also provide the context for the 

description of the milestones which are required to be disclosed. For example, one 
business objective of an Issuer may be to commence marketing and licencing technology 
nationally through direct sales and a network of agents; a milestone may be to conduct 
four feasibility studies over the next ten months to facilitate marketing of the technology, 
with an anticipated cost of $X for the studies. 

(2) For the purposes of paragraph (1)(b), examples of significant events would include the 
hiring of key personnel, making major capital acquisitions, obtaining necessary regulatory 
approvals, implementing marketing plans and strategies and commencing production and 
sales. 

 
(2) For principal products or services describe: 

 
a) the methods of their distribution and their principal markets; 
 
b) as dollar amounts or as percentages, for each of the two most recently 

completed financial years, the revenues for each category of principal 
products or services that accounted for 15 per cent or more of total 
consolidated revenues for the applicable financial year derived from: 

(i) sales or transfers to joint ventures in which your company is a 
participant or to entities in which your company has an 
investment accounted for by the equity method, 

(ii) sales to customers, other than those referred to in clause (i), 
outside the consolidated entity,  

(iii) sales or transfers to controlling shareholders; and 

(iv)  sales or transfers to investees. 
 

c) if not fully developed, the stage of development of the principal 
products or services and, if the products are not at the commercial 
production stage, 

 
(i) the timing and stage of research and development programs, 
 
(ii) the major components of the proposed programs, including an 

estimate of anticipated costs, 
 
(iii) whether the Issuer is conducting its own research and 

development, is subcontracting out the research and 
development or is using a combination of those methods, and 
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(iv) the additional steps required to reach commercial production and 

an estimate of costs and timing. 
 

(3) Concerning production and sales, disclose: 
 

a) the actual or proposed method of production of products and if the 
Issuer provides services, the actual or proposed method of providing 
services; 

 
b) the payment terms, expiration dates and terms of any renewal options 

of any material leases or mortgages, whether they are in good 
standing and, if applicable, that the landlord or mortgagee is a Related 
Person of the Issuer; 

 
c) specialized skill and knowledge requirements and the extent that the 

skill and knowledge are available to the Issuer; 
 

d) the sources, pricing and availability of raw materials, component parts 
or finished products; 

 
e) the importance, duration and effect on the segment of identifiable 

intangible properties such as brand names, circulation lists, copyrights, 
franchises, licences, patents, software, subscription lists and 
trademarks; 

 
f) the extent to which the business of the segment is cyclical or seasonal; 

 

g) a description of any aspect of the Issuer's business that may be 
affected in the 12 months following the date of the Listing Statement by 
renegotiation or termination of contracts or sub-contracts and the likely 
effect; 

 
h) the financial and operational effects of environmental protection 

requirements on the capital expenditures, earnings and competitive 
position of the Issuer in the current financial year and the expected 
effect, on future years; 

 
i) the number of employees, as at the most recent financial year end or 

as an average over that year, whichever is more relevant; 
 
j) any risks associated with foreign operations of the Issuer and any 

dependence of the segments upon the foreign operations; 
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k) a description of any contract upon which your company's business is 
substantially dependent, such as a contract to sell the major part of 
your company's products or services or to purchase the major part of 
your company's requirements for goods, services or raw materials, or 
any franchise or licence or other agreement to use a patent, formula, 
trade secret, process or trade name upon which your company's 
business depends; 

 
l) a description of any aspect of your company's business that you 

reasonably expect to be affected in the current financial year by 
renegotiation or termination of contracts or sub-contracts, and the likely 
effect. 

 
(4) Describe the competitive conditions in the principal markets and geographic 

areas in which the Issuer operates, including, if reasonably possible, an 
assessment of the Issuer's competitive position. 

 
(5) With respect to lending operations of an Issuer's business, describe the 

investment policies and lending and investment restrictions. 
 

(6) Disclose the nature and results of any bankruptcy, or any receivership or 
similar proceedings against the Issuer or any of its subsidiaries or any 
voluntary bankruptcy, receivership or similar proceedings by the Issuer or 
any of its subsidiaries, within the three most recently completed financial 
years or the current financial year. 

(7) Disclose the nature and results of any material restructuring transaction of 
the Issuer within the three most recently completed financial years or 
completed during or proposed for the current financial year. 

(8) If the Issuer has implemented social or environmental policies that are 
fundamental to the Issuer’s operations, such as policies regarding the 
Issuer’s relationship with the environment or with the communities in which 
the Issuer does business, or human rights policies, describe them and the 
steps the Issuer has taken to implement them. 

 
Instruction: 
(1) The Issuer's stated business objectives must not include any prospective financial 

information with respect to sales, whether expressed in terms of dollars or units, 
unless the information is derived from future-oriented financial information issued 
in accordance with National Instrument 51-102 Continuous Disclosure Obligations 
or any successor instrument and is included in the Listing Statement. 

(2) Where sales performance is considered to be an important objective, it must be 
stated in general terms.  For example, the Issuer may state that it anticipates 
generating sufficient cash flow from sales to pay its operating cost for a specified 
period. 
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Companies with Asset-backed Securities Outstanding Not applicable. 

4.2 In respect of any outstanding asset-backed securities, disclose the following 
information:  

(1) Payment Factors - A description of any events, covenants, standards or 
preconditions that may reasonably be expected to affect the timing or 
amount of any payments or distributions to be made under the asset-backed 
securities. 

(2) Underlying Pool of Assets - For the three most recently completed financial 
years of your company or the lesser period commencing on the first date on 
which your company had asset-backed securities outstanding, information 
on the pool of financial assets servicing the asset-backed securities relating 
to 

(a) the composition of the pool as of the end of each financial year or partial 
period; 

(b) income and losses from the pool on at least an annual basis or such 
shorter period as is reasonable given the nature of the underlying pool of 
assets; 

(c) the payment, prepayment and collection experience of the pool on at 
least an annual basis or such shorter period as is reasonable given the 
nature of the underlying pool of assets; 

(d) servicing and other administrative fees; and 

(e) any significant variances experienced in the matters referred to in 
paragraphs (a), (b), (c), or (d). 

(3) Investment Parameters - The investment parameters applicable to 
investments of any cash flow surpluses. 

(4) Payment History - The amount of payments made during the three most 
recently completed financial years or the lesser period commencing on the 
first date on which your company had asset-backed securities outstanding, 
in respect of principal and interest or capital and yield, each stated 
separately, on asset-backed securities of your company outstanding. 

(5) Acceleration Event - The occurrence of any event that has led to, or with the 
passage of time could lead to, the accelerated payment of principal, interest 
or capital of asset-backed securities. 
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(6) Principal Obligors - The identity of any principal obligors for the outstanding 
asset-backed securities of your company, the percentage of the pool of 
financial assets servicing the asset-backed securities represented by 
obligations of each principal obligor and whether the principal obligor has 
filed an AIF in any jurisdiction or a Form 10-K, Form 10-KSB or Form 20F 
in the United States. 

 
Instruction: 
(1) For the purposes of this item an "asset backed security" is treated as in item 5.3 of Form 

41-101F1. 
(2) Present the information requested under section 4.2 in a manner that enables a 

reader to easily determine the status of the events, covenants, standards and 
preconditions referred to in subsection (1) 

(3) If the information required under subsection (2) 

(A) is not compiled specifically on the pool of financial assets servicing the asset- 
backed securities, but is compiled on a larger pool of the same assets from 
which the securitized assets are randomly selected so that the performance of 
the larger pool is representative of the performance of the pool of securitized 
assets, or 

(B) in the case of a new company, where the pool of financial assets servicing the 
asset-backed securities will be randomly selected from a larger pool of the same 
assets so that the performance of the larger pool will be representative of the 
performance of the pool of securitized assets to be created, 

 

(4) a company may comply with subsection (2) by providing the information required based 
on the larger pool and disclosing that it has done so. 

 
4.3 For Issuers with a mineral project, disclose and insert here the information required 

by Appendix A for each property material to the Issuer. Not applicable. 
 
Instructions: 
(1) Disclosure regarding mineral exploration development or production activities on material 

properties is required to comply with National Instrument 43-101, including the use of the 
appropriate terminology to describe mineral reserves and mineral resources. 

(2) Disclosure is required for each property material to the Issuer.  Materiality is to be 
determined in the context of the Issuer's overall business and financial condition, taking 
into account quantitative and qualitative factors.  A property will not generally be 
considered material to an Issuer if the book value of the property as reflected in the 
Issuer's most recently filed financial statements or the value of the consideration paid or to 
be paid (including exploration obligations) is less than 10 per cent of the book value of the 
total of the Issuer's mineral properties and related plant and equipment. 

(3) The information required under these items is required to be based upon a technical report 
or other information prepared by or under the supervision of a qualified person, as that 
term is defined in National Instrument 43-101. 
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(4) In giving the information required under these items, include the nature of ownership 
interests, such as fee interests, leasehold interests, royalty interests and any other types 
and variations of ownership interests. 

 
4.4 For Issuers with Oil and Gas Operations disclose and insert here the information 

required by Appendix B (in tabular form, if appropriate). 
 
Instruction: The information required under this item shall be derived from or supported by 
information obtained from a report prepared in accordance with the provisions of National 
Instrument 51-101 or any successor instrument. 
 
5. Selected Consolidated Financial Information  
 
5.1 Annual Information — Provide the following financial data for the Issuer in 

summary form for each of the last three completed financial years and any 
period subsequent to the most recent financial year end for which financial 
statements have been prepared, accompanied by a discussion of the factors 
affecting the comparability of the data, including discontinued operations, 
changes in accounting policies, significant acquisitions or significant 
dispositions and major changes in the direction of the Issuer's business: Please 
refer to the Management Discussion & Analysis for the year ended June 
30, 2022 attached as Appendix B. 

 
(a) net sales or total revenues; 

 
(b) income from continuing operations, in total and on a per share basis and 

fully diluted per share basis, calculated in accordance with the Handbook; 
 

(c) net income or loss, in total and on a per share and fully diluted per share 
basis, calculated in accordance with the Handbook; 

 
(d) total assets; 

 
(e) total long-term financial liabilities as defined in the Handbook; 

 
(f) cash dividends declared per share for each class of share; and 
 
(g) such other information as would enhance an investor’s understanding of 

the Issuer’s financial condition and results of operations and would 
highlight other trends in financial condition and results of operations. 

 
5.2 Quarterly Information — For each of the eight most recently completed quarters 

ending at the end of the most recently completed financial year, provide the 
information required in paragraphs (a), (b) and (b) of Section 5.1. Please refer 
to the Management Discussion & Analysis for the year ended June 30, 
2022 attached as Appendix B. 



 
FORM 2A – LISTING STATEMENT 

January 2015 
Page 16 

 
  

 
Instruction: 
(1) For an Issuer that has not been a reporting issuer for the eight most recently completed 

quarters ending at the end of the most recently completed financial year, provide the 
information required in paragraphs (a), (b) and (c) of Section 5.1 for the period that the 
Issuer was not a reporting issuer only if the Issuer has prepared quarterly financial 
statements for that period. 

(2) If the Issuer is only required to file six month interim financial statements, the information 
required under paragraph (1) may instead be provided for each of the four most recently 
completed six month periods ended at the end of the most recently completed financial 
year for which financial statements have been prepared. 

 
5.3 Dividends – disclose: No change since 2021 Listing Statement. 
 

(a) any restriction that could prevent the Issuer from paying dividends; and 
 

(b) the Issuer's dividend policy and, if a decision has been made to change 
the dividend policy, the intended change in dividend policy. 

 
5.4 Foreign GAAP — An Issuer may present the selected consolidated financial 

information required in this section on the basis of foreign GAAP if: Not 
applicable. 

 
(a) the Issuer's primary financial statements have been prepared using 

foreign GAAP; and 
 

(b) if the Issuer is required under applicable securities legislation to have 
reconciled its financial statements to Canadian GAAP at the time of filing 
its financial statements or the Issuer has otherwise done so, a cross 
reference to the notes to the financial statements containing the 
reconciliation of the financial statements to Canadian GAAP is included. 

 
Instruction: 
(1) If financial information that is included in the summary is derived from financial statements 

included in the Listing Statement, but the financial information is neither directly presented 
in, nor readily determinable from, the financial statements, include a reconciliation to the 
financial statements in notes. 

(2) If financial information that is included in the listing statement is derived from financial 
statements that are not included in the Listing Statement, indicate in the lead-in to the 
summary the source from which the information is extracted, the percentage interest that 
the Issuer has in the person or company, the GAAP principles used, the name of the 
auditors, the date of the report, and the nature of the opinion expressed.  

(3) The derivation of ratios included in the Listing Statement in notes should be disclosed in 
notes to the Listing Statement.  

(4) Information included in the Listing Statement should be presented in a manner that is 
consistent with the intent of Canadian accounting recommendations and practices (e.g., 
cash flow data should not be interspersed with amounts from an income statement in a 
manner which suggests that cash flow data has been or should be presented in an income 
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statement, and cash flow data should not be presented in a manner that appears to give it 
prominence equal to or greater than earnings data). 

 
 
6. Management's Discussion and Analysis 
 
Please refer to the Management Discussion & Analysis for the year ended June 
30, 2022 attached as Appendix B. 
 
General Instructions and Interpretation 
 
Provide MD&A for the most recent annual financial statements filed with the application for 
listing (or filed since the last update of the listing statement, and interim MD&A for each interim 
financial statement filed with the application for listing (or filed since the last update of the 
quotation statement). The first interim MD&A will update the annual MD&A, and each 
subsequent interim MD&A will update the previous interim MD&A. If the Issuer includes annual 
income statements, statements of retained earnings, and cash flow statements for three 
financial years under Section 5, provide MD&A for the second most recent annual financial 
statements of the Issuer. 
What is MD&A? — MD&A is a narrative explanation, through the eyes of management, of how 
an Issuer performed during the period covered by the financial statements, and of an Issuer’s 
financial condition and future prospects. MD&A complements and supplements your financial 
statements, but does not form part of your financial statements. Management’s objective when 
preparing the MD&A should be to improve the Issuer’s overall financial disclosure by giving a 
balanced discussion of the Issuer’s results of operations and financial condition including, 
without limitation, such considerations as liquidity and capital resources - openly reporting bad 
news as well as good news.  
 
MD&A should help current and prospective investors understand what the financial statements 
show and do not show; discuss material information that may not be fully reflected in the 
financial statements, such as contingent liabilities, defaults under debt, off-balance sheet 
financing arrangements, or other contractual obligations; discuss important trends and risks that 
have affected the financial statements, and trends and risks that are reasonably likely to affect 
them in the future; and provide information about the quality, and potential variability, of the 
Issuer’s earnings and cash flow, to assist investors in determining if past performance is 
indicative of future performance. 
 
Date of Information — In preparing the MD&A, management must take into account information 
available up to the date of the MD&A. If the date of the MD&A is not the date it is filed, 
management must ensure the disclosure in the MD&A is current so that it will not be misleading 
when it is filed. 
 
Explain the Analysis — Explain the nature of, and reasons for, changes in the Issuer’s 
performance. Do not simply disclose the amount of change in a financial statement item from 
period to period. Avoid using boilerplate language. The discussion should assist the reader to 
understand trends, events, transactions and expenditures. 
 
Focus on Material Information —Management does not need to disclose information that is not 
material. Exercise judgment when determining whether information is material. 
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What is Material? — Would a reasonable investor’s decision whether or not to buy, sell or hold 
the Issuer’s securities likely be influenced or changed if the information in question was omitted 
or misstated? If so, the information is likely material. This concept of materiality is consistent 
with the financial reporting notion of materiality contained in the Handbook.  
 
Forward-Looking Information — Management is encouraged to provide forward-looking 
information if it has a reasonable basis for making the statements. Preparing MD&A necessarily 
involves some degree of prediction or projection. For example, MD&A requires a discussion of 
known trends or uncertainties that are reasonably likely to affect the Issuer’s business. 
However, MD&A does not require that the Issuer provide a detailed forecast of future revenues, 
income or loss or other information. All forward-looking information must contain a statement 
that the information is forward-looking, a description of the factors that may cause actual results 
to differ materially from the forward-looking information, management’s material assumptions 
and appropriate risk disclosure and cautionary language. 
 
The MD&A must discuss any forward-looking information disclosed in MD&A for a prior period 
which, in light of intervening events and absent further explanation, may be misleading. Forward 
looking statements may be considered misleading when they are unreasonably optimistic or 
aggressive, or lack objectivity, or are not adequately explained. Timely disclosure obligations 
might also require the Issuer to issue a news release and file a material change report. 
 
Issuers Without Significant Revenues — If the Issuer is without significant revenues from 
operations, focus the discussion and analysis of results of operations on expenditures and 
progress towards achieving management’s business objectives and milestones. 
 
Reverse Takeover Transactions — When an acquisition is accounted for as a reverse takeover, 
the MD&A should be based on the reverse takeover acquirer’s financial statements. 
 
Foreign Accounting Principles — If the Issuer’s primary financial statements have been 
prepared using accounting principles other than Canadian GAAP and a reconciliation is 
provided, the MD&A must focus on the primary financial statements. 
 
Resource Issuers — If the Issuer has mineral projects, the disclosure must comply with National 
Instrument 43-101 Standards of Disclosure for Mineral Projects, including the requirement that 
all scientific and technical disclosure be based on a technical report or other information 
prepared by or under the supervision of a qualified person. If the Issuer has oil and gas 
activities, the disclosure must comply with National Instrument 51-101 Standards of Disclosure 
for Oil and Gas Activities. 
 

US issuers –  

(1) If the Issuer is a US issuer, for any MD&A that is included in the Listing Statement, include 
the disclosure prepared in accordance with subsection (2) if the Issuer: 

(a) has based the discussion in the MD&A on financial statements prepared in 
accordance with U.S. GAAP, and 

(b) is required by subsection 4.1(1) of NI 52-107 to provide a reconciliation to Canadian 
GAAP. 
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(2) In the disclosure required under subsection (1) restate, based on financial information of the 
Issuer prepared in accordance with, or reconciled to, Canadian GAAP, those parts of the 
MD&A that are based on financial statements of the Issuer prepared in accordance with 
U.S. GAAP, and would contain material differences if they were based on financial 
statements of the Issuer prepared in accordance with Canadian GAAP. 

 
Annual MD&A 
 

6.1 Date - Specify the date of the MD&A. The date of the MD&A must be no 
earlier than the date of the auditor’s report on the financial statements for 
the Issuer’s most recently completed financial year. 

 
6.2 Overall Performance - Provide an analysis of the Issuer’s financial 

condition, results of operations and cash flows. Discuss known trends, 
demands, commitments, events or uncertainties that are reasonably likely 
to have an effect on the Issuer’s business. Compare the Issuer’s 
performance in the most recently completed financial year to the prior 
year’s performance. The analysis should address at least the following: 

 
(a) operating segments that are reportable segments as those terms 

are used in the Handbook; 
 
(b) other parts of the business if 
 

(i) they have a disproportionate effect on revenues, income or 
cash needs, or 

 
(ii) there are any legal or other restrictions on the flow of funds 

from one part of the Issuer’s business to another;  
 
(c) industry and economic factors affecting the Issuer’s performance; 
 
(d) why changes have occurred or expected changes have not 

occurred in the Issuer’s financial condition and results of 
operations; and 

 
(e) the effect of discontinued operations on current operations. 

 
Instruction: 
(1) When explaining changes in the Issuer’s financial condition and results, include 

an analysis of the effect on the Issuer’s continuing operations of any acquisition, 
disposition, write-off, abandonment or other similar transaction. 

(2) Financial condition includes the Issuer’s financial position (as shown on the 
balance sheet) and other factors that may affect the Issuer’s liquidity and capital 
resources. 

(3) Include information for a period longer than one financial year if it will help the 
reader to better understand a trend. 
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Selected Annual Financial Information 
 
6.3 Provide the following financial data derived from the Issuer’s financial 

statements for each of the three most recently completed financial years: 
 

(a) net sales or total revenues; 
 
(b) income or loss before discontinued operations and extraordinary 

items, in total and on a per-share and diluted per-share basis; 
 
(c) net income or loss, in total and on a per-share and diluted per-

share basis; 
 
(d) total assets; 
 
(e) total long-term financial liabilities; and 
 
(f) cash dividends declared per-share for each class of share. 

 
6.4 Variations - Discuss the factors that have caused period to period 

variations including discontinued operations, changes in accounting 
policies, significant acquisitions or dispositions and changes in the 
direction of the Issuer’s business, and any other information the Issuer 
believes would enhance an understanding of, and would highlight trends 
in, financial condition and results of operations. 

 
Instruction: Indicate the accounting principles that the financial data has been prepared 
in accordance with, the reporting currency, the measurement currency if different from 
the reporting currency and, if the underlying financial statements have been reconciled 
to Canadian GAAP, provide a cross-reference to the reconciliation that is found in the 
notes to the financial statements. 

 
6.5 Results of Operations - Discuss management’s analysis of the Issuer’s 

operations for the most recently completed financial year, including: 
 

(a) net sales or total revenues by operating business segment, 
including any changes in such amounts caused by selling prices, 
volume or quantity of goods or services being sold, or the 
introduction of new products or services; 

 
(b) any other significant factors that caused changes in net sales or 

total revenues; 
 
(c) cost of sales or gross profit; 
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(d) for Issuers that have significant projects that have not yet 
generated operating revenue, describe each project, including the 
Issuer’s plan for the project and the status of the project relative to 
that plan, and expenditures made and how these relate to 
anticipated timing and costs to take the project to the next stage of 
the project plan; 

 
(e) for resource Issuers with producing mines, identify milestones such 

as mine expansion plans, productivity improvements, or plans to 
develop a new deposit; 

 
(f) factors that caused a change in the relationship between costs and 

revenues, including changes in costs of labour or materials, price 
changes or inventory adjustments; 

 
(g) commitments, events, risks or uncertainties that you reasonably 

believe will materially affect the Issuer’s future performance 
including net sales, total revenue and income or loss before 
discontinued operations and extraordinary items; 

 
(h) effect of inflation and specific price changes on the Issuer’s net 

sales and total revenues and on income or loss before discontinued 
operations and extraordinary items; 

 
(i) a comparison in tabular form of disclosure you previously made 

about how the Issuer was going to use proceeds (other than 
working capital) from any financing, an explanation of variances 
and the impact of the variances, if any, on the Issuer’s ability to 
achieve its business objectives and milestones; and 

 
(j) unusual or infrequent events or transactions. 

 
Instruction: The discussion under Item 6.5(d) should include: 

a) whether or not management plans to expend additional funds on the project; and 
b) any factors that have affected the value of the project(s) such as change in 

commodity prices, land use or political or environmental issues. 
 

6.6 Summary of Quarterly Results - Provide the following information in 
summary form, derived from the Issuer’s financial statements, for each of 
the eight most recently completed quarters: 

 
(a) net sales or total revenues; 
 
(b) income or loss before discontinued operations and extraordinary 

items, in total and on a per-share and diluted per-share basis; and 
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(c) net income or loss, in total and on a per-share and diluted per-
share basis. 

 
Discuss the factors that have caused variations over the quarters 
necessary to understand general trends that have developed and the 
seasonality of the business. 

 
Instruction: 
(1) The most recently completed quarter is the quarter that ended on the last day of 

your most recently completed financial year. Information does not have to be 
provided for a quarter prior to the Issuer becoming a reporting issuer if the Issuer 
has not prepared financial statements for those quarters. 

(2) For sections 6.2, 6.3, 6.4 and 6.5 consider identifying, discussing and analyzing 
the following factors: 
a) changes in customer buying patterns, including changes due to new 

technologies and changes in demographics; 
b) changes in selling practices, including changes due to new distribution 

arrangements or a reorganization of a direct sales force; 
c) changes in competition, including an assessment of the Issuer’s 

resources, strengths and weaknesses relative to those of its competitors; 
d) the effect of exchange rates; 
e) changes in pricing of inputs, constraints on supply, order backlog, or other 

input-related matters; 
f) changes in production capacity, including changes due to plant closures 

and work stoppages; 
g) changes in volume of discounts granted to customers, volumes of returns 

and allowances, excise and other taxes or other amounts reflected on a 
net basis against revenues; 

h) changes in the terms and conditions of service contracts; 
i) the progress in achieving previously announced milestones; and 
j) for resource Issuers with producing mines, identify changes to cash flow 

caused by changes in production throughput, head-grade, cut-off grade, 
metallurgical recovery and any expectation of future changes. 

(3) Indicate the accounting principles that the financial data has been prepared in 
accordance with, the reporting currency, the measurement currency if different 
from the reporting currency and, if the underlying financial statements have been 
reconciled to Canadian GAAP, provide a cross-reference to the reconciliation 
that is found in the notes to the financial statements. 

 
6.7 Liquidity - Provide an analysis of the Issuer’s liquidity, including: 

 
(a) its ability to generate sufficient amounts of cash and cash 

equivalents, in the short term and the long term, to maintain the 
Issuer’s capacity, to meet the Issuer’s planned growth or to fund 
development activities; 

 
(b) trends or expected fluctuations in the Issuer’s liquidity, taking into 

account demands, commitments, events or uncertainties; 



 
FORM 2A – LISTING STATEMENT 

January 2015 
Page 23 

 
  

 
(c) its working capital requirements; 
 
(d) liquidity risks associated with financial instruments; 
 
(e) if the Issuer has or expects to have a working capital deficiency, 

discuss its ability to meet obligations as they become due and how 
you expect it to remedy the deficiency; 

 
(f) balance sheet conditions or income or cash flow items that may 

affect the Issuer’s liquidity; 
 
(g) legal or practical restrictions on the ability of subsidiaries to transfer 

funds to the Issuer and the effect these restrictions have had or 
may have on the ability of the Issuer to meet its obligations; and 

 
(h) defaults or arrears or anticipated defaults or arrears on 
 

(i) dividend payments, lease payments, interest or principal 
payment on debt, 

(ii) debt covenants during the most recently completed financial 
year, and 

(iii) redemption or retraction or sinking fund payments; and 
 

(i) details on how the Issuer intends to cure the default or arrears. 
 
Instruction: 
(1) In discussing the Issuer’s ability to generate sufficient amounts of cash and cash 

equivalents, describe sources of funding and the circumstances that could affect 
those sources that are reasonably likely to occur. Examples of circumstances 
that could affect liquidity are market or commodity price changes, economic 
downturns, defaults on guarantees and contractions of operations. 

(2) In discussing trends or expected fluctuations in the Issuer’s liquidity and liquidity 
risks associated with financial instruments, discuss 
(a) provisions in debt, lease or other arrangements that could trigger an 

additional funding requirement or early payment (examples of such 
situations are provisions linked to credit rating, earnings, cash flows or 
share price); and 

(b) circumstances that could impair the Issuer’s ability to undertake 
transaction considered essential to operations. Examples of such 
circumstances are the inability to maintain investment grade credit rating, 
earnings per-share, cash flow or share price. 

(3) In discussing the Issuer’s working capital requirements, discuss situations where 
the Issuer must maintain significant inventory to meet customers’ delivery 
requirements or any situations involving extended payment terms. 

(4) In discussing the Issuer’s balance sheet conditions or income or cash flow items 
consider a summary, in tabular form, of contractual obligations including 
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payments due for each of the next five years and thereafter. This summary and 
table is not, however, mandatory. An example of a table that can be adapted to 
the Issuer’s particular circumstances follows: 

 Payments Due by Period 
Contractual Obligations  

Total 
Less than 

1 year 
1 - 3 

years 
4 - 5 

years 
After 

5 
years 

Long Term Debt      
Capital Lease Obligations      
Operating Leases      
Purchase Obligations1      
Other Long Term Obligations 2      
Total Contractual Obligations      

1 “Purchase Obligation” means an agreement to purchase goods or services that is 
enforceable and legally binding on the Issuer that specifies all significant terms, including: 
fixed or minimum quantities to be purchased; fixed, minimum or variable price provisions; 
and the approximate timing of the transaction. 

2 “Other Long Term Obligations” means other long-term liabilities reflected on the Issuer’s 
balance sheet. 

The tabular presentation may be accompanied by footnotes to describe provisions that 
create, increase or accelerate obligations, or other details to the extent necessary for an 
understanding of the timing and amount of the Issuer’s specified contractual obligations. 
 
6.8 Capital Resources - Provide an analysis of the Issuer’s capital resources, 
including 

 
(a) commitments for capital expenditures as of the date of the Issuer’s 

financial statements including: 
 
(i) the amount, nature and purpose of these commitments, 
 
(ii) the expected source of funds to meet these commitments, 

and 
 
(iii) expenditures not yet committed but required to maintain the 

Issuer’s capacity, to meet the Issuer’s planned growth or to 
fund development activities; 

 
(b) known trends or expected fluctuations in the Issuer’s capital 

resources, including expected changes in the mix and relative cost 
of these resources; and 

 
(c) sources of financing that the Issuer has arranged but not yet used. 
 

Instruction: 
(1) Capital resources are financing resources available to the Issuer and include 

debt, equity and any other financing arrangements that management reasonably 
considers will provide financial resources to the Issuer. 
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(2) In discussing the Issuer’s commitments management should discuss any 
exploration and development, or research and development expenditures 
required to maintain properties or agreements in good standing.  

 
6.9 Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements - Discuss any off-balance sheet 

arrangements that have, or are reasonably likely to have, a current or 
future effect on the results of operations or financial condition of the Issuer 
including, without limitation, such considerations as liquidity and capital 
resources. This discussion shall include their business purpose and 
activities, their economic substance, risks associated with the 
arrangements, and the key terms and conditions associated with any 
commitments, including: 

 
(a) a description of the other contracting part(ies); 
 
(b) the effects of terminating the arrangement; 
 
(c) the amounts receivable or payable, revenues, expenses and cash 

flows resulting from the arrangement; 
 
(d) the nature and amounts of any other obligations or liabilities arising 

from the arrangement that could require the Issuer to provide 
funding under the arrangement and the triggering events or 
circumstances that could cause them to arise; and 

 
(e) any known event, commitment, trend or uncertainty that may affect 

the availability or benefits of the arrangement (including any 
termination) and the course of action that management has taken, 
or proposes to take, in response to any such circumstances. 

 
Instruction: 
(1) Off-balance sheet arrangements include any contractual arrangement with an 

entity not reported on a consolidated basis with the Issuer, under which the 
Issuer has 
(a) any obligation under certain guarantee contracts; 
(b) a retained or contingent interest in assets transferred to an 

unconsolidated entity or similar arrangement that serves as credit, 
liquidity or market risk support to that entity for the assets; 

(c) any obligation under certain derivative instruments; or 
(d) any obligation under a material variable interest held by the Issuer in an 

unconsolidated entity that provides financing, liquidity, market risk or 
credit risk support to the Issuer, or engages in leasing, hedging or, 
research and development services with the Issuer. 

(2) Contingent liabilities arising out of litigation, arbitration or regulatory actions are 
not considered to be off-balance sheet arrangements. 

(3) Disclosure of off-balance sheet arrangements should cover the most recently 
completed financial year. However, the discussion should address changes from 
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the previous year where such discussion is necessary to understand the 
disclosure. 

(4) The discussion need not repeat information provided in the notes to the financial 
statements if the discussion clearly cross-references to specific information in the 
relevant notes and integrates the substance of the notes into the discussion in a 
manner that explains the significance of the information not included in the 
MD&A. 

 
 
 
 
6.10 Transactions with Related Parties - Discuss all transactions involving 
related parties as defined by the Handbook. 
 
Instruction: In discussing the Issuer’s transactions with related parties, the discussion 
should include both qualitative and quantitative characteristics that are necessary for an 
understanding of each transaction’s business purpose and economic substance. 
Management should discuss: 
(a) the relationship and identify the related person or entities; 
(b) the business purpose of the transaction; 
(c) the recorded amount of the transaction and the measurement basis used; and 
(d) any ongoing contractual or other commitments resulting from the transaction. 

 
6.11 Fourth Quarter - Discuss and analyze fourth quarter events or items that 

affected the Issuer’s financial condition, cash flows or results of 
operations, including extraordinary items, year-end and other adjustments, 
seasonal aspects of the Issuer’s business and dispositions of business 
segments. 

 
6.12 Proposed Transactions - Discuss the expected effect on financial 

condition, results of operations and cash flows of any proposed asset or 
business acquisition or disposition if the Issuer’s board of directors, or 
senior management who believe that confirmation of the decision by the 
board is probable, have decided to proceed with the transaction. Include 
the status of any required shareholder or regulatory approvals. 

 
6.13 Changes in Accounting Policies including Initial Adoption - Discuss and 

analyze any changes in the Issuer’s accounting policies, including: 
 

(a) for any accounting policies that management has adopted or 
expects to adopt subsequent to the end of the most recently 
completed financial year, including changes management has 
made or expects to make voluntarily and those due to a change in 
an accounting standard or a new accounting standard that you do 
not have to adopt until a future date:  
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(i) describe the new standard, the date the Issuer required to 
adopt it and, if determined, the date the Issuer plans to adopt 
it, 

 
(ii) disclose the methods of adoption permitted by the 

accounting standard and the method management expects 
to use, 

 
(iii) discuss the expected effect on the Issuer’s financial 

statements, or if applicable, state that management cannot 
reasonably estimate the effect, and 

 
(iv) discuss the potential effect on the Issuer’s business, for 

example technical violations or default of debt covenants or 
changes in business practices; and 

 
(b) for any accounting policies that management has initially adopted 

during the most recently completed financial year,  
 
(i) describe the events or transactions that gave rise to the 

initial adoption of an accounting policy, 
 
(ii) describe the accounting principle that has been adopted and 

the method of applying that principle, 
 
(iii) discuss the effect resulting from the initial adoption of the 

accounting policy on the Issuer’s financial condition, 
changes in financial condition and results of operations, 

 
(iv) if the Issuer is permitted a choice among acceptable 

accounting principles, 
 
(A) state that management made a choice among 

acceptable alternatives, 
 
(B) identify the alternatives, 
 
(C) describe why management made the choice that you 

did, and 
 
(D) discuss the effect, where material, on the Issuer’s 

financial condition, changes in financial condition and 
results of operations under the alternatives not 
chosen; and 
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(v) if no accounting literature exists that covers the accounting 
for the events or transactions giving rise to management’s 
initial adoption of the accounting policy, explain 
management’s decision regarding which accounting principle 
to use and the method of applying that principle. 

 
Instruction: Management does not have to present the discussion under paragraph 
6.13(b) for the initial adoption of accounting policies resulting from the adoption of new 
accounting standards. 

 
6.14 Financial Instruments and Other Instruments - For financial instruments 

and other instruments: 
 

(a) discuss the nature and extent of the Issuer’s use of, including 
relationships among, the instruments and the business purposes 
that they serve; 

 
(b) describe and analyze the risks associated with the instruments; 
 
(c) describe how management manages the risks in paragraph (b), 

including a discussion of the objectives, general strategies and 
instruments used to manage the risks, including any hedging 
activities; 

 
(d) disclose the financial statement classification and amounts of 

income, expenses, gains and losses associated with the 
instrument; and 

 
(e) discuss the significant assumptions made in determining the fair 

value of financial instruments, the total amount and financial 
statement classification of the change in fair value of financial 
instruments recognized in income for the period, and the total 
amount and financial statement classification of deferred or 
unrecognized gains and losses on financial instruments. 

 
Instruction: 
(1) “Other instruments” are instruments that may be settled by the delivery of non-

financial assets. A commodity futures contract is an example of an instrument 
that may be settled by delivery of non-financial assets. 

(2) The discussion under paragraph 6.14(a) should enhance a reader’s 
understanding of the significance of recognized and unrecognized instruments on 
the Issuer’s financial position, results of operations and cash flows. The 
information should also assist a reader in assessing the amounts, timing, and 
certainty of future cash flows associated with those instruments. Also discuss the 
relationship between liability and equity components of convertible debt 
instruments. 
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(3) For purposes of paragraph 6.14(c), if the Issuer is exposed to significant price, 
credit or liquidity risks, consider providing a sensitivity analysis or tabular 
information to help readers assess the degree of exposure. For example, an 
analysis of the effect of a hypothetical change in the prevailing level of interest or 
currency rates on the fair value of financial instruments and future earnings and 
cash flows may be useful in describing the Issuer’s exposure to price risk. 

(4) For purposes of paragraph 6.14(d), disclose and explain the income, expenses, 
gains and losses from hedging activities separately from other activities. 

 
Interim MD&A  

Not Applicable. 
 
6.15 Date - Specify the date of the interim MD&A. 
 
6.16 Updated Disclosure - Interim MD&A must update the Issuer’s annual 

MD&A for all disclosure required by sections 6.2 to 6.14 except sections 
6.3 and 6.4. This disclosure must include: 

 
(a) a discussion of management’s analysis of 
 

(i) current quarter and year-to-date results including a 
comparison of results of operations and cash flows to the 
corresponding periods in the previous year; 

 
(ii) changes in results of operations and elements of income or 

loss that are not related to ongoing business operations; 
 
(iii) any seasonal aspects of the Issuer’s business that affect its 

financial condition, results of operations or cash flows; and 
 
(b) a comparison of the Issuer’s interim financial condition to the 

Issuer’s financial condition as at the most recently completed 
financial year-end. 

 
Instruction: 
(1) For the purposes of paragraph (b), do not duplicate the discussion and analysis 

of financial condition in the annual MD&A. For example, if economic and industry 
factors are substantially unchanged the interim MD&A may make a statement to 
this effect. 

(2) For the purposes of subparagraph (a)(i), you should generally give prominence to 
the current quarter. 

(3) In discussing the Issuer’s balance sheet conditions or income or cash flow items 
for an interim period, you do not have to present a summary, in tabular form, of 
all known contractual obligations contemplated under section 6.7. Instead, you 
should disclose material changes in the specified contractual obligations during 
the interim period that are outside the ordinary course of the Issuer’s business. 
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(4) Interim MD&A is not required for the Issuer’s fourth quarter as relevant fourth 
quarter content will be contained in the Issuer’s annual MD&A. 

 
 
6.17 Additional Disclosure for Issuers without Significant Revenue: 
 

(a) unless the information is disclosed in the financial statements to 
which the annual or interim MD&A relates, an Issuer that has not 
had significant revenue from operations in either of its last two 
financial years must disclose a breakdown of material components 
of: 

 
(i) capitalized or expensed exploration and development costs, 
 
(ii) expensed research and development costs, 
 
(iii) deferred development costs, 
 
(iv) general and administration expenses, and 
 
(v) any material costs, whether capitalized, deferred or expensed, 

not referred to in paragraphs (i) through (iv); 
 

(b) if the Issuer’s business primarily involves mining exploration and 
development, the analysis of capitalized or expensed exploration 
and development costs must be presented on a property-by-
property basis; and 

 
(c) the disclosure in the annual MD&A must be for the two most 

recently completed financial years and the disclosure in the interim 
MD&A for the each year-to-date interim period and the comparative 
period presented in the interim statements. 

6.18 Description of Securities: 

(a) disclose the designation and number or principal amount of: 

(i) each class and series of voting or equity securities of the 
Issuer for which there are securities outstanding, 

(ii) each class and series of securities of the Issuer for which 
there are securities outstanding if the securities are 
convertible into, or exercisable or exchangeable for, voting or 
equity securities of the Issuer, and 

(iii) subject to subsection (b), each class and series of voting or 
equity securities of the Issuer that are issuable on the 
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conversion, exercise or exchange of outstanding securities of 
the Issuer; 

 

(b) if the exact number or principal amount of voting or equity securities 
of the Issuer that are issuable on the conversion, exercise or 
exchange of outstanding securities of the Issuer is not 
determinable, the Issuer must disclose the maximum number or 
principal amount of each class and series of voting or equity 
securities that are issuable on the conversion, exercise or 
exchange of outstanding securities of the Issuer and, if that 
maximum number or principal amount is not determinable, the 
Issuer must describe the exchange or conversion features and the 
manner in which the number or principal amount of voting or equity 
securities will be determined; and 

(c) the disclosure under subsections (a) and (b) must be prepared as 
of the latest practicable date.  

6.19 Provide Breakdown: 

(a) if the Issuer has not had significant revenue from operations in 
either of its last two financial years, disclose a breakdown of 
material components of: 

(i) capitalized or expensed exploration and development costs, 

(ii) expensed research and development costs, 

(iii) deferred development costs, 

(iv) general and administrative expenses, and 

(v) any material costs, whether capitalized, deferred or 
expensed, not referred to in paragraphs (i) through (iv); 

(b) present the analysis of capitalized or expensed exploration and 
development costs required by subsection (a) on a property-by-
property basis, if the Issuer’s business primarily involves mining 
exploration and development; and 

(c) provide the disclosure in subsection (a) for the following periods: 

(i) the two most recently completed financial years, and 

(ii) the most recent year-to-date interim period and the 
comparative year-to-date period presented in the interim 
financial statements included, if any. 
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Subsection (a) does not apply if the information required under that 
subsection has been disclosed in the financial statements. 

 
6.20 Negative cash-flow - If the Issuer had negative operating cash flow in its 

most recently completed financial year for which financial statements have 
been included, disclose: 

 
the period of time the proceeds raised are expected to fund operations; 
 
the estimated total operating costs necessary for the Issuer to achieve its 

stated business objectives during that period of time; and 
 
the estimated amount of other material capital expenditures during that 

period of time. 
 

6.21 Additional disclosure for Issuers with significant equity investees: 
 

if the Issuer has a significant equity investee 

(i) summarized information as to the assets, liabilities and 
results of operations of the equity investee, and 

(ii) the Issuer’s proportionate interest in the equity investee and 
any contingent issuance of securities by the equity investee 
that might significantly affect the Issuer’s share of earnings; 
and 

provide the disclosure in subsection (a) for the following periods 

(i) the two most recently completed financial years, and 

(ii) the most recent year-to-date interim period and the 
comparative year-to-date period presented in the interim 
financial statements included in the Listing Statement, if 
any. 

Subsection (a) does not apply if: 

(i) the information required under that subsection has been 
disclosed in the financial statements included, or 

(ii) the Issuer includes separate financial statements of the 
equity investee for the periods referred to in subsection (b). 

 
7. Market for Securities 
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7.1 Identify the exchange(s) and quotation and trade reporting system(s) on which 
the Issuer's securities are listed and posted for trading or quoted. The Issuer’s 
Class “A” Common Shares are listed on the Canadian Securities 
Exchange and Frankfurt Stock Exchange, and quoted on the OTCQB. 

 
8. Consolidated Capitalization 
 
8.1 Describe any material change in, and the effect of the material change on, the 

share and loan capital of the Issuer, on a consolidated basis, since the date of 
the comparative financial statements for the Issuer's most recently completed 
financial year contained in the Listing Statement. Please refer to Audited 
Annual Financial Statements for the year ended June 30, 2022 attached as 
Appendix B. 

 
9. Options to Purchase Securities 
 
9.1 State, in tabular form, as at a specified date not more than 30 days before the 

date of the Listing Statement, information as to options to purchase securities 
of the Issuer or a subsidiary of the Issuer that are held by: 

 
(a) all executive officers and past executive officers of the Issuer as a group 

and all directors and past directors of the Issuer who are not also 
executive officers as a group, indicating the aggregate number of 
executive officers and the aggregate number of directors to whom the 
information applies, without naming them; 

 
(b) all executive officers and past executive officers of all subsidiaries of the 

Issuer as a group and all directors and past directors of those subsidiaries 
who are not also executive officers of the subsidiary as a group, in each 
case, without naming them and excluding individuals referred to in 
paragraph (a), indicating the aggregate number of executive officers and 
the aggregate number of directors to whom the information applies; 

 
(c) all other employees and past employees of the Issuer as a group, without 

naming them; 
 

(d) all other employees and past employees of subsidiaries of the Issuer as a 
group, without naming them;  

 
(e) all consultants of the Issuer as a group, without naming them; and 

 
(f) any other person or company, including the underwriter, naming each 

person or company. 
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Optionee  Company 

Shares Issuable 
Exercise 

Price 
Expiry Date 

Executive officers of the Issuer (and past executive officers) 3,331,500 $0.20 - $6.00 Nov. 23, 2023 
– November 5, 

2026 
Directors of the Issuer (and past directors) that are not executive officers 2,298,000 $0.20 - $6.00 Nov. 23, 2023 

– November 5, 
2026 

Executive officers of subsidiaries of the Issuer (and past executive 
officers) 
 

250,000 $0.20 November 5, 
2026 

Directors of subsidiaries of the Issuer (and past directors) that are not 
executive officers 
 

- - - 

Employees of the Issuer (and past employees) 8,050 $4.00 - $11.00 Nov. 23, 2023 
– Jan. 03, 

2025 
Employees of subsidiaries of the Issuer (and past employees) 
 

- - - 

Consultants of the Issuer 1,120,000 $0.20 - $6.00 June 1, 2022 – 
November 5, 

2026 
Other persons 
 

- - - 

 
 

 
Instruction: 
(1) Describe the options, stating the material provisions of each class or type of option, 

including: 
(a) the designation and number of the securities under option; 
(b) the purchase price of the securities under option or the formula by which the purchase 

price will be determined, and the expiration dates of the options; 
(c) if reasonably ascertainable, the market value of the securities under option on the date 

of grant; 
(d) if reasonably ascertainable, the market value of the securities under option on the 

specified date; and 
(e) with respect to options referred to in paragraph (f) of Item 9.1, the particulars of the 

grant including the  consideration for the grant. 
(2) For the purposes of item (f) of section 9.1, provide the information required for all options 

except warrants and special warrants. 
 
10. Description of the Securities 
 
10.1 General - State the description or the designation of each class of equity 

securities and describe all material attributes and characteristics, including: No 
change from 2021 Listing Statement. 

 
a) dividend rights; 

b) voting rights; 

c) rights upon dissolution or winding-up; 
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d) pre-emptive rights; 

e) conversion or exchange rights; 

f) redemption, retraction, purchase for cancellation or surrender provisions, 

g) sinking or purchase fund provisions; 

h) provisions permitting or restricting the issuance of additional securities and 

any other material restrictions; and 

i) provisions requiring a securityholder to contribute additional capital. 

 
10.2 Debt securities - If debt securities are being listed, describe all material attributes 

and characteristics of the indebtedness and the security, if any, for the debt, 
including: Not Applicable. 

 
(a) provisions for interest rate, maturity and premium, if any; 

 
(b) conversion or exchange rights; 

 
(c) redemption, retraction, purchase for cancellation or surrender provisions, 

 
(d) sinking or purchase fund provisions; 

 
(e) the nature and priority of any security for the debt securities, briefly 

identifying the principal properties subject to lien or charge; 
 

(f) provisions permitting or restricting the issuance of additional securities, the 
incurring of additional indebtedness and other material negative 
covenants, including restrictions against payment of dividends and 
restrictions against giving security on the assets of the Issuer or its 
subsidiaries, and provisions as to the release or substitution of assets 
securing the debt securities; 

 
(g) the name of the trustee under any indenture relating to the Issuer and 

 
(h) any financial arrangements between the Issuer and any of its affiliates or 

among its affiliates that could affect the security for the indebtedness. 
 
10.4 Other securities - If securities other than equity securities or debt securities are 

being listed, describe fully the material attributes and characteristics of those 
securities. Not Applicable. 
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10.5 Modification of terms: Not Applicable. 
 

(a) describe provisions about the modification, amendment or variation of any 
rights attached to the securities being listed; and 

 
(b) if the rights of holders of securities may be modified otherwise than in 

accordance with the provisions attached to the securities or the provisions 
of the governing statute relating to the securities, explain briefly. 

10.6 Other attributes: Not Applicable. 

 (a) if the rights attaching to the securities being listed are materially limited 
or qualified by the rights of any other class of securities, or if any other 
class of securities ranks ahead of or equally with the securities being 
listed, include information about the other securities that will enable 
investors to understand the rights attaching to the securities being listed; 
and 

 (b) if securities of the class being listed may be partially redeemed or 
repurchased, state the manner of selecting the securities to be redeemed 
or repurchased. 

 
10.7 Prior Sales - State the prices at which securities of the same class as the 

securities to be listed have been sold within the 12 months before the date of 
the Listing Statement, or are to be sold, by the Issuer or any Related Person 
and the number of securities of the class sold or to be sold at each price. No 
change from 2021 Listing Statement. 

 
Instruction: In the case of sales by a Related Person, the information required under section 
10.7 may be given in the form of price ranges for each calendar month. 
 
10.8 Stock Exchange Price: 
 

a) if shares of the same class as the shares to be listed were or are listed on 
a Canadian stock exchange or traded on a Canadian market, provide the 
price ranges and volume traded on the Canadian stock exchange or 
market on which the greatest volume of trading generally occurs; 

 
b) if shares of the same class as the shares to be listed were or are not listed 

on a Canadian stock exchange or traded on a Canadian market, provide 
the price ranges and volume traded on the foreign stock exchange or 
market on which the greatest volume of trading generally occurs; and 

 
c) information is to be provided on a monthly basis for each month or, if 

applicable, part month, of the current quarter and the immediately 
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preceding quarter and on a quarterly basis for the next preceding seven 
quarters. 

 
 
11. Escrowed Securities 
 
11.1 State as of a specified date within 30 days before the date of the Listing 

Statement, in substantially the following tabular form, the number of securities 
of each class of securities of the Issuer held, to the knowledge of the Issuer, in 
escrow (which, for the purposes of this Form includes any securities subject to 
a pooling agreement) and the percentage that number represents of the 
outstanding securities of that class. In a note to the table, disclose the name of 
the depository, if any, and the date of and conditions governing the release of 
the securities from escrow. 

 
 ESCROWED SECURITIES 
 

Designation of class held in 
escrow 
 

 Number of securities 
 held in escrow 

Percentage of 
class 

Class “A” Common Shares 
(National Policy 46-201 
Escrow) 
 

 
11,427 

 
0.01% 

Class “A” Common Shares 
(Voluntary Escrow) 
 

45,054,201 70.70% 

 
 Please refer to the 2021 Listing Statement for details regarding the terms 

of the escrow. 
 
 
12. Principal Shareholders  
 
No change from 2021 Listing Statement. 
 
12.1 (1) Provide the following information for each principal shareholder of the 

Issuer as of a specified date not more than 30 days before the date of the  
Listing Statement: 

 
(a) Name; 

 
(b) The number or amount of securities owned of the class to be listed; 
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(c) Whether the securities referred to in subsection 12(1)(b) are owned 
both of record and beneficially, of record only, or beneficially only; 
and 

 
(d) The percentages of each class of securities known by the Issuer to 

be owned. 

(2) If the Issuer is requalifying following a fundamental change or has 
proposed an acquisition, amalgamation, merger, reorganization or 
arrangement, indicate, to the extent known, the holding of each person of 
company described in paragraph (1) that will exist after giving effect to the 
transaction. 

 
(3) If, to the knowledge of the Issuer, more than 10 per cent of any class of 

voting securities of the Issuer is held, or is to be held, subject to any voting 
trust or other similar agreement, disclose, to the extent known, the 
designation of the securities, the number or amount of the securities held 
or to be held subject to the agreement and the duration of the agreement.  
State the names and addresses of the voting trustees and outline briefly 
their voting rights and other powers under the agreement. 

 
(4) If, to the knowledge of the Issuer, any principal shareholder is an associate 

or affiliate of another person or company named as a principal 
shareholder, disclose, to the extent known, the material facts of the 
relationship, including any basis for influence over the Issuer held by the 
person or company other than the holding of voting securities of the 
Issuer. 

 
(5) In addition to the above, include in a footnote to the table, the required 

calculation(s) on a fully-diluted basis. 
 
Instruction: If a company, partnership, trust or other unincorporated entity is a principal 
shareholder of an Issuer, disclose, to the extent known, the name of each individual who, 
through ownership of or control or direction over the securities of the company or membership in 
the partnership, as the case may be, is a principal shareholder of the company or partnership. 
 
13 Directors and Officers 

No change from 2021 Listing Statement. 
 
13.1 List the name and municipality of residence of each director and executive 

officer of the Issuer and indicate their respective positions and offices held with 
the Issuer and their respective principal occupations within the five preceding 
years. 
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Instruction: If, during the period, a director or officer has held more than one position with the 
Issuer or the Issuer's controlling shareholder or a subsidiary of the Issuer, state only the current 
position held. 
 
13.2 State the period or periods during which each director has served as a director 

and when his or her term of office will expire. 
 
13.3 State the number and percentage of securities of each class of voting securities 

of the Issuer or any of its subsidiaries beneficially owned, directly or indirectly, 
or over which control or direction is exercised by all directors and executive 
officers of the Issuer as a group. 

 
Instruction: Securities of subsidiaries that are beneficially owned, directly or indirectly, or over 
which control or direction is exercised by directors or executive officers through ownership or 
control or direction over securities of the Issuer do not need to be included. 
 
13.4 Disclose the board committees of the Issuer and identify the members of each 

committee. 
 

13.5 If the principal occupation of a director or officer of the Issuer is acting as an 
officer of a person or company other than the Issuer, disclose the fact and state 
the principal business of the person or company. 

 
13.6 Disclose if a director or officer of the Issuer or a shareholder holding a sufficient 

number of securities of the Issuer to affect materially the control of the Issuer, 
is, or within 10 years before the date of the Listing Statement has been, a 
director or officer of any other Issuer that, while that person was acting in that 
capacity: 

 
(a) was the subject of a cease trade or similar order, or an order that denied 

the other Issuer access to any exemptions under Ontario securities law, 
for a period of more than 30 consecutive days, state the fact and describe 
the basis on which the order was made and whether the order is still in 
effect; 

 
(b) was subject to an event that resulted, after the director or executive officer 

ceased to be a director or executive officer, in the company being the 
subject of a cease trade or similar order or an order that denied the 
relevant company access to any exemption under securities legislation, for 
a period of more than 30 consecutive days, state the fact and describe the 
basis on which the order was made and whether the order is still in effect; 

 
(c) became bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to 

bankruptcy or insolvency or was subject to or instituted any proceedings, 
arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a receiver, receiver 
manager or trustee appointed to hold its assets, state the fact; or 
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(d) within a year of that person ceasing to act in that capacity, became 

bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or 
insolvency or was subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or 
compromise with creditors or had a receiver, receiver manager or trustee 
appointed to hold its assets, state the fact. 

 
13.7 Describe the penalties or sanctions imposed and the grounds on which they 

were imposed or the terms of the settlement agreement and the circumstances 
that gave rise to the settlement agreement, if a director or officer of the Issuer, 
or a shareholder holding sufficient securities of the Issuer to affect materially 
the control of the Issuer, has: 

 
(a) been subject to any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to 

Canadian securities legislation or by a Canadian securities regulatory 
authority or has entered into a settlement agreement with a Canadian 
securities regulatory authority; or 

 
(b) been subject to any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or 

regulatory body that would be likely to be considered important to a 
reasonable investor making an investment decision. 

 
13.8 Despite section 13.7, no disclosure is required of a settlement agreement 

entered into before December 31, 2000 unless the disclosure would likely be 
important to a reasonable investor in making an investment decision. 

 
13.9 If a director or officer of the Issuer, or a shareholder holding sufficient securities 

of the Issuer to affect materially the control of the Issuer, or a personal holding 
company of any such persons has, within the 10 years before the date of the 
Listing Statement, become bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation 
relating to bankruptcy or insolvency, or been subject to or instituted any 
proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors, or had a receiver, 
receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold the assets of the director or 
officer, state the fact. 

 
13.10 Disclose particulars of existing or potential material conflicts of interest between 

the Issuer or a subsidiary of the Issuer and a director or officer of the Issuer or 
a subsidiary of the Issuer. 

 
13.11 Management — In addition to the above provide the following information for 

each member of management: 
 

(a) state the individual's name, age, position and responsibilities with the 
Issuer and relevant educational background; 
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(b) state whether the individual works full time for the Issuer or what 
proportion of the individual's time will be devoted to the Issuer; 

 
(c) state whether the individual is an employee or independent contractor of 

the Issuer; 
 

(d) state the individual's principal occupations or employment during the five 
years prior to the date of the Listing Statement, disclosing with respect to 
each organization as of the time such occupation or employment was 
carried on: 

 
(i) its name and principal business, 

 
(ii) if applicable, that the organization was an affiliate of the Issuer, 

 
(iii) positions held by the individual, and 

 
(iv) whether it is still carrying on business, if known to the individual; 

 
(e) describe the individual's experience in the Issuer's industry; and 

 
(f) state whether the individual has entered into a non-competition or non-

disclosure agreement with the Issuer. 
 
Instruction: 
(1) For purposes of this Item "management" means all directors, officers, employees and 

contractors whose expertise is critical to the Issuer, its subsidiaries and proposed 
subsidiaries in providing the Issuer with a reasonable opportunity to achieve its stated 
business objectives. 

(2) The description of the principal occupation of a member of management must be 
specific.  The terms "businessman" or "entrepreneur" are not sufficiently specific. 

 
14. Capitalization 
 

14.1 Prepare and file the following chart for each class of securities to be listed:  
 
Issued Capital 
 

 Number of 
Securities 

(non-diluted) 

Number of 
Securities 

(fully-diluted) 

% of Issued 
(non-diluted) 

% of Issued 
(fully-diluted) 

Public Float 
 

    

Total outstanding (A)  63,721,968 132,681,721 100% 100% 
     
Held by Related Persons or employees of the 
Company or Related Person of the Company, or by 
persons or companies who beneficially own or 

45,627,538 96,641,163 71.60% 72.84% 
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control, directly or indirectly, more than a 5% voting 
position in the Company (or who would beneficially 
own or control, directly or indirectly, more than a 
5% voting position in the Company upon exercise 
or conversion of other securities held) (B) 
     
Total Public Float (A-B) 18,094,430 36,040,558 28.39% 27.16% 
     
Freely-Tradeable Float 
 

    

Number of outstanding securities subject to resale 
restrictions, including restrictions imposed by 
pooling or other arrangements or in a shareholder 
agreement and securities held by control block 
holders (C)  

45,065,628 91,952,152 70.72% 69.30% 

     
Total Tradeable Float (A-C) 18,656,340 40,729,569 

 
29.28% 30.70% 

 
 
 
Public Securityholders (Registered) 
 
No material change from 2021 Listing Statement. 
 

Instruction: For the purposes of this report, "public securityholders" are persons 
other than persons enumerated in section (B) of the previous chart. List 
registered holders only. 
 

Class of Security 
 

    

Size of Holding   Number of 
holders 

 Total number of 
securities 

     
1 – 99 securities     
     
100 – 499 securities     
     
500 – 999 securities     
     
1,000 – 1,999 securities     
     
2,000 – 2,999 securities     
     
3,000 – 3,999 securities     
     
4,000 – 4,999 securities     
     
5,000 or more  securities     
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Public Securityholders (Beneficial) 
 

Instruction: Include (i) beneficial holders holding securities in their own name as 
registered shareholders; and (ii) beneficial holders holding securities through an 
intermediary where the Issuer has been given written confirmation of 
shareholdings. For the purposes of this section, it is sufficient if the intermediary 
provides a breakdown by number of beneficial holders for each line item below; 
names and holdings of specific beneficial holders do not have to be disclosed. If 
an intermediary or intermediaries will not provide details of beneficial holders, 
give the aggregate position of all such intermediaries in the last line. 
 

Class of Security 
 

    

Size of Holding   Number of 
holders 

 Total number of 
securities 

     
1 – 99 securities     
     
100 – 499 securities     
     
500 – 999 securities     
     
1,000 – 1,999 securities     
     
2,000 – 2,999 securities     
     
3,000 – 3,999 securities     
     
4,000 – 4,999 securities     
     
5,000 or more  securities     
     
Unable to confirm     
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Non-Public Securityholders (Registered) 
 

Instruction: For the purposes of this report, "non-public securityholders" are 
persons enumerated in section (B) of the issued capital  chart.  
 

Class of Security 
 

    

Size of Holding   Number of 
holders 

 Total number of 
securities 

     
1 – 99 securities     
     
100 – 499 securities     
     
500 – 999 securities     
     
1,000 – 1,999 securities     
     
2,000 – 2,999 securities     
     
3,000 – 3,999 securities     
     
4,000 – 4,999 securities     
     
5,000 or more  securities     
     
     

 
14.2 Provide the following details for any securities convertible or exchangeable into 

any class of listed securities 
 
The following table sets forth details of all securities convertible or exchangeable into 
Common Shares: 

Description of Security Number of Convertible / 
Exchangeable Securities 

Outstanding 

Number of Resulting Issuer Shares 
Issuable Upon Conversion/Exercise  

Options(1) 7,007,550 7,007,550 
Warrants(2) 60,108,453 60,108,453 
Debentures(3) 1,843,750 1,843,750 
 
Note:  
(1)  Additional details on the Issuer Options can be found in Section 9 “Options to Purchase Securities”. 
(2)   Consists of 24,075,000 VGAN Financing Warrants (with an exercise price of $0.25 per share for a period of 60 months), 

34,000,000 VGAN Seed Warrants (with an exercise price of $0.05 per share until March 31, 2026) and 2,000,000 VGAN 
Second Seed Warrants (with an exercise price of $0.15 per share until July 23, 2026). 

(3) The Convertible Debentures include the 1,843,750 Common Shares issuable upon the vesting and exercise of the VGAN 
Convertible Notes. The principal sum of the VGAN Convertible Notes was equal to $500,000 (currently $368,750) and shall 
vest over two years, with 12.5% vesting every three months commencing on the date that is three months from the closing date 
of the Nextjen Acquisition. On vesting of each tranche of the VGAN Convertible Notes, each shareholder of Nextjen shall have 
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the option, subject to certain exemptions, to receive either their respective portion of cash consideration or an amount equal to 
their respective portion in VGAN Shares at a price equal to the price of the VGAN Financing.  

 
14.3 Provide details of any listed securities reserved for issuance that are not 

included in section 14.2. Not applicable. 
 
15. Executive Compensation 
 

15.1 Attach a Statement of Executive Compensation from Form 51-102F6 or any 
successor instrument and describe any intention to make any material changes 
to that compensation. Please refer to the Issuer’s Information Circular 
dated October 27, 2022. 

 
 
16. Indebtedness of Directors and Executive Officers 
 
No update from 2021 Listing Statement. 
 
16.1 Aggregate Indebtedness 

 
 (1) Complete the above table for the aggregate indebtedness outstanding as at a 

date within thirty days before the date of the information circular entered into in 
connection with: 

 
(a) a purchase of securities; and 

 
(b) all other indebtedness. 

 
(2) Report separately the indebtedness to: 
 

(a) the Issuer or any of its subsidiaries (column (b)); and 
 

AGGREGATE INDEBTEDNESS ($) 

Purpose 
To the Issuer or 
its Subsidiaries To Another Entity 

   

(a) (b) (c)    

Share purchases      

Other   
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(b) another entity if the indebtedness is the subject of a guarantee, 
support agreement, letter of credit or other similar arrangement 
or understanding provided by the Issuer or any of its subsidiaries 
(column (c)), 

of all officers, directors, employees and former officers, directors and employees 
of the Issuer or any of its subsidiaries. 

(3) “Support agreement” includes, but is not limited to, an agreement to provide 
assistance in the maintenance or servicing of any indebtedness and an agreement 
to provide compensation for the purpose of maintaining or servicing any 
indebtedness of the borrower. 

 
16.2 Indebtedness of Directors and Executive Officers under (1) Securities 

Purchase and (2) Other Programs 
 

INDEBTEDNESS OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS UNDER (1) SECURITIES 
PURCHASE AND (2) OTHER PROGRAMS 

Name and 
Principal 
Position 

Involvement 
of Issuer or 
Subsidiary 

Largest 
Amount 
Outstanding 
During [Most 
Recently 
Completed 
Financial 
Year] 
($) 

Amount 
Outstanding 
as at [the 
date of the 
Form] 
($) 

Financially 
Assisted 
Securities 
Purchases 
During [Most 
Recently 
Completed 
Financial 
Year] 
(#) 

Security 
for 
Indebtedness 

Amount 
Forgiven 
During 
[Most 
Recently 
Completed 
Financial 
Year] 

($) 

(a) (b) (c) (d) (e) (f) (g) 
Securities Purchase Programs 
       
       

Other Programs 
       
       
 

(1) Complete the above table for each individual who is, or at any time during the 
most recently completed financial year was, a director or executive officer of the 
Issuer, each proposed nominee for election as a director of the Issuer, and each 
associate of any such director, executive officer or proposed nominee, 

(a) who is, or at any time since the beginning of the most recently 
completed financial year of the Issuer has been, indebted to the 
Issuer or any of its subsidiaries, or 
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(b) whose indebtedness to another entity is, or at any time since the 
beginning of the most recently completed financial year has been, the 
subject of a guarantee, support agreement, letter of credit or other 
similar arrangement or understanding provided by the Issuer or any of 
its subsidiaries, 

 
and separately disclose the indebtedness for security purchase programs and 
all other programs. 
 

( 2 )  Note the following: 
 
Column (a) – disclose the name and principal position of the borrower. If the 
borrower was, during the year, but no longer is a director or executive officer, 
state that fact. If the borrower is a proposed nominee for election as a director, 
state that fact. If the borrower is included as an associate, describe briefly the 
relationship of the borrower to an individual who is or, during the year, was a 
director or executive officer or who is a proposed nominee for election as a 
director, name that individual and provide the information required by this 
subparagraph for that individual. 

Column (b) – disclose whether the Issuer or a subsidiary of the Issuer is the 
lender or the provider of a guarantee, support agreement, letter of credit or 
similar arrangement or understanding. 

Column (c) – disclose the largest aggregate amount of the indebtedness 
outstanding at any time during the last completed financial year. 

Column (d) – disclose the aggregate amount of indebtedness outstanding as 
at a date within thirty days before the date of the information circular. 

Column (e) – disclose separately for each class or series of securities, the 
sum of the number of securities purchased during the last completed financial 
year with the financial assistance (security purchase programs only). 

Column (f) – disclose the security for the indebtedness, if any, provided to 
the Issuer, any of its subsidiaries or the other entity (security purchase 
programs only). 

Column (g) – disclose the total amount of indebtedness that was forgiven at 
any time during the last completed financial year. 

( 3 )  Supplement the above table with a summary discussion of: 

(a) the material terms of each incidence of indebtedness and, if applicable, of 
each guarantee, support agreement, letter of credit or other similar 
arrangement or understanding, including: 
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(i) the nature of the transaction in which the indebtedness was incurred, 

(ii) the rate of interest, 

(iii) the term to maturity, 

(iv) any understanding, agreement or intention to limit recourse, and 

(v) any security for the indebtedness; 

(b) any material adjustment or amendment made during the most recently 
completed financial year to the terms of the indebtedness and, if 
applicable, the guarantee, support agreement, letter of credit or similar 
arrangement or understanding. Forgiveness of indebtedness reported in 
column (g) of the above table should be explained; and 

 
(c) the class or series of the securities purchased with financial assistance or 

held as security for the indebtedness and, if the class or series of 
securities is not publicly traded, all material terms of the securities, 
including the provisions for exchange, conversion, exercise, redemption, 
retraction and dividends. 

 
Instruction: 
(1) For purposes of this item, the following interpretation applies to the term "routine 

indebtedness": 
(a) A loan, whether or not in the ordinary course of business, is considered as routine 

indebtedness if made on terms, including terms relating to interest rate and security, 
no more favourable to the borrower than the terms on which loans are made by the 
Issuer to employees generally unless the amount at any time during the last completed 
financial year remaining unpaid under the loans to any one director or executive officer 
together with his or her associates exceeds $25,000, in which case the indebtedness 
is not routine; 

(b) A loan made by an Issuer to a director or executive officer, whether or not the Issuer 
makes loans in the ordinary course of business, is routine indebtedness if: 

 (i) the borrower is a full-time employee of the Issuer or a subsidiary of the Issuer, 
(ii) the loan is fully secured against the residence of the borrower, and 
(iii) the amount of the loan does not exceed the annual aggregate salary of the 

borrower from the Issuer and its subsidiaries; 
(c) If the Issuer makes loans in the ordinary course of business, a loan to a person or 

company other than a full-time employee of the Issuer or of a subsidiary of the Issuer 
is routine indebtedness, if the loan: 

(i) is made on substantially the same terms, including terms relating to interest rate 
and security, as are available when a loan is made to other customers of the 
Issuer with comparable credit ratings, and 

(ii) involves no greater than usual risks of collectability; and 
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(d) Indebtedness for purchases made on usual trade terms, for ordinary travel or expense 
advances or for loans or advances made for similar purposes is routine indebtedness if 
the repayment arrangements are in accordance with usual commercial practice. 

(2) For purposes of this item, "support agreement" includes an agreement to provide 
assistance in the maintenance or servicing of any indebtedness and an agreement to 
provide compensation for the purpose of maintaining or servicing any indebtedness of the 
borrower. 

(3) No disclosure need be made under this item of indebtedness that has been entirely repaid 
on or before the date of the Listing Statement. 

 
17.  Risk Factors 
 
No update from 2021 Listing Statement. 

17.1 Disclose risk factors relating to the Issuer and its business, such as cash flow 
and liquidity problems, if any, experience of management, the general risks 
inherent in the business carried on by the Issuer, environmental and health 
risks, reliance on key personnel, regulatory constraints, economic or political 
conditions and financial history and any other matter that would be likely to 
influence an investor’s decision to purchase securities of the Issuer. 

17.2  If there is a risk that securityholders of the Issuer may become liable to make 
an additional contribution beyond the price of the security, disclose that risk. 

17.3 Describe any risk factors material to the Issuer that a reasonable investor 
would consider relevant to an investment in the securities being listed and that 
are not otherwise described under section 17.1 or 17.2. 

Instruction: Disclose risks in the order of seriousness from the most serious to the least 
serious. A risk factor must not be de-emphasized by including excessive caveats or conditions. 

 
18. Promoters  
 
No update from 2021 Listing Statement. 
 
 
Instruction: In this Part, "promoter" includes any person performing Investor Relations 
Activities (as defined in the Policies) for the Issuer. 
 
18.1 For a person or company that is, or has been within the two years immediately 

preceding the date of the Listing Statement, a promoter of the Issuer or of a 
subsidiary of the Issuer, state: 

 
(a) the person or company's name; 
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(b) the number and percentage of each class of voting securities and equity 
securities of the Issuer or any of its subsidiaries beneficially owned, 
directly or indirectly, or over which control is exercised; 

 
(c) the nature and amount of anything of value, including money, property, 

contracts, options or rights of any kind received or to be received by the 
promoter directly or indirectly from the Issuer or from a subsidiary of the 
Issuer, and the nature and amount of any assets, services or other 
consideration therefor received or to be received by the Issuer or a 
subsidiary of the Issuer in return; and 

 
(d) for an asset acquired within the two years before the date of the Listing 

Statement or thereafter, or to be acquired, by the Issuer or by a subsidiary 
of the Issuer from a promoter: 

 
(i) the consideration paid or to be paid for the asset and the method by 

which the consideration has been or will be determined, 
 

(ii) the person or company making the determination referred to in 
subparagraph (i) and the person or company's relationship with the 
Issuer, the promoter, or an associate or affiliate of the Issuer or of the 
promoter, and 

 
(iii) the date that the asset was acquired by the promoter and the cost of 

the asset to the promoter. 

18.2 (1) If a promoter referred to in section 18.1 is, as at the date hereof, or was 
within 10 years before the date hereof, a director, chief executive officer, 
or chief financial officer of any person or company that: 

a) was subject to an order that was issued while the promoter 
was acting in the capacity as director, chief executive officer or 
chief financial officer; or 

b) was subject to an order that was issued after the promoter ceased 
to be a director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer and 
which resulted from an event that occurred while the promoter was 
acting in the capacity as director, chief executive officer or chief 
financial officer, 

state the fact and describe the basis on which the order was made and whether 
the order is still in effect. 

 
(2)  For the purposes of section 18.2 (1), “order” means: 

 
(a) a cease trade order; 
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(b) an order similar to a cease trade order; or 

 
(c) an order that denied the relevant person or company access to 

any exemption under securities legislation, that was in effect for a 
period of more than 30 consecutive days. 

 (3)  If a promoter referred to in section 18.2 (1): 

(a) is, as at the date hereof, or has been within the 10 years before the 
date hereof, a director or executive officer of any person or company 
that, while the promoter was acting in that capacity, or within a year 
of that person ceasing to act in that capacity, became bankrupt, 
made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or 
insolvency or was subject to or instituted any proceedings, 
arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a receiver, receiver 
manager or trustee appointed to hold its assets, state the fact; or 

(b) has, within the 10 years before the date hereof, become bankrupt, 
made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or 
insolvency, or become subject to or instituted any proceedings, 
arrangement or compromise with creditors, or had a receiver, 
receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold the assets of the 
promoter, state the fact. 

 (4)  Describe the penalties or sanctions imposed and the grounds on which 
they were imposed or the terms of the settlement agreement and the 
circumstances that gave rise to the settlement agreement, if a promoter 
referred to in section 18.2(1) has been subject to: 

(a) any penalties or sanctions imposed by a court relating to provincial 
and territorial securities legislation or by a provincial and territorial 
securities regulatory authority or has entered into a settlement 
agreement with a provincial and territorial securities regulatory 
authority; or 

(b) any other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory 
body that would be likely to be considered important to a reasonable 
investor in making an investment decision. 

 (5)  Despite section 18.2(4), no disclosure is required of a settlement 
agreement entered into before December 31, 2000 unless the disclosure 
would likely be considered important to a reasonable investor in making 
an investment decision. 

Instruction: The disclosure required by sections 18.2(2), 18.2(4) and 18.2(5) also 
applies to any personal holding companies of any of the persons referred to in sections 
18.2(2), 18.2(4), and 18.2(5). 
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1. A management cease trade order which applies to a promoter referred to in 
section 18.1 is an “order” for the purposes of section 18.2(2)(a) and must be 
disclosed, whether or not the director, chief executive officer or chief financial 
officer was named in the order. 

2. For the purposes of this section, a late filing fee, such as a filing fee that applies 
to the late filing of an insider report, is not a “penalty or sanction”. The disclosure 
in section 18.2(2)(a) only applies if the promoter was a director, chief executive 
officer or chief financial officer when the order was issued against the person or 
company. The Issuer does not have to provide disclosure if the promoter 
became a director, chief executive officer or chief financial officer after the order 
was issued 

 
19. Legal Proceedings 
 
No update from 2021 Listing Statement. 
 
19.1 Describe any legal proceedings material to the Issuer to which the Issuer or a 

subsidiary of the Issuer is a party or of which any of their respective property is 
the subject matter and any such proceedings known to the Issuer to be 
contemplated, including the name of the court or agency, the date instituted, 
the principal parties to the proceedings, the nature of the claim, the amount 
claimed, if any, if the proceedings are being contested, and the present status 
of the proceedings. 

 
Instruction: No information need be given with respect to any proceeding that involves 
primarily a claim for damages if the amount involved, exclusive of interest and costs, does not 
exceed 10 per cent of the current assets of the Issuer and its subsidiaries on a consolidated 
basis.  However, if any proceeding presents in large degree the same legal and factual issues 
as other proceedings pending or known to be contemplated, the amount involved in the other 
proceedings shall be included in computing the percentage. 
 

19.2 Regulatory actions - Describe any: 
 

(a) penalties or sanctions imposed against the Issuer by a court relating to 
provincial and territorial securities legislation or by a securities regulatory 
authority within the three years immediately preceding the date hereof; 

 
(b) other penalties or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body 

against the Issuer necessary to contain full, true and plain disclosure of all 
material facts relating to the securities being listed; and 

 
(c) settlement agreements the Issuer entered into before a court relating to 

provincial and territorial securities legislation or with a securities 
regulatory authority within the three years immediately preceding the date 
hereof. 
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20. Interest of Management and Others in Material Transactions 
 
No update from 2021 Listing Statement. 
 
20.1 Describe, and state the approximate amount of, any material interest, direct or 

indirect, of any of the following persons or companies in any transaction within 
the three years before the date of the Listing Statement, or in any proposed 
transaction, that has materially affected or will materially affect the Issuer or a 
subsidiary of the Issuer: 

 
(a) any director or executive officer of the Issuer; 
 
(b) a person or company that is the direct or indirect beneficial owner of, or 

who exercises control or direction over, more than 10 percent of any class 
or series of your outstanding voting securities; and 

 
(c) an associate or affiliate of any of the persons or companies referred to in 

paragraphs (a) or (b). 
 
Instruction: 
(1) The materiality of an interest is to be determined on the basis of the significance of the 

information to investors in light of all the circumstances of the particular case.  The 
importance of the interest to the person having the interest, the relationship of the 
parties to the transaction with each other and the amount involved are among the 
factors to be considered in determining the significance of the information to investors. 

(2) Give a brief description of the material transaction.  Include the name of each person 
or company whose interest in any transaction is described and the nature of the 
relationship to the Issuer. 

(3) For any transaction involving the purchase of assets by or sale of assets to the Issuer 
or a subsidiary of the Issuer, state the cost of the assets to the purchaser, and the cost 
of the assets to the seller if acquired by the seller within three years before the 
transaction. 

(4) This item does not apply to any interest arising from the ownership of securities of the 
Issuer if the security holder receives no extra or special benefit or advantage not 
shared on an equal basis by all other holders of the same class of securities or all 
other holders of the same class of securities who are resident in Canada. 

(5) Information must be included as to any material underwriting discounts or 
commissions upon the sale of securities by the Issuer if any of the specified persons or 
companies were or are to be an underwriter or are associates, affiliates or partners of 
a person or company that was or is to be an underwriter. 

(6) No information need be given in answer to this item as to a transaction, or an interest 
in a transaction, if 

(a) the rates or charges involved in the transaction are fixed by law or determined by 
competitive bids; 

(b) the interest of a specified person or company in the transaction is solely that of a 
director of another company that is a party to the transaction; 
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(c) the transaction involves services as a bank or other depository of funds, a 
transfer agent, registrar, trustee under a trust indenture or other similar services; 
or 

(d) the transaction does not involve remuneration for services and the interest of the 
specified person or company arose from the beneficial ownership, direct or 
indirect, of less than 10 per cent of any class of equity securities of another 
company that is party to the transaction and the transaction is in the ordinary 
course of business of the Issuer or its subsidiaries. 

(7) Describe all transactions not excluded above that involve remuneration (including an 
issuance of securities), directly or indirectly, to any of the specified persons or 
companies for services in any capacity unless the interest of the person or company 
arises solely from the beneficial ownership, direct or indirect, of less than 10 per cent 
of any class of equity securities of another company furnishing the services to the 
Issuer or its subsidiaries. 

 
21. Auditors, Transfer Agents and Registrars 
 
No update from 2021 Listing Statement. 
 
21.1 State the name and address of the auditor of the Issuer. 
 
21.2 For each class of securities, state the name of any transfer agent, registrar, 

trustee, or other agent appointed by the Issuer to maintain the securities 
register and the register of transfers for such securities and indicate the location 
(by municipality) of each of the offices of the Issuer or transfer agent, registrar, 
trustee or other agent where the securities register and register of transfers are 
maintained or transfers of securities are recorded.   

 
22. Material Contracts 
 
No update from 2021 Listing Statement. 
 
22.1 Give particulars of every material contract, other than contracts entered into in 

the ordinary course of business that was entered into within the two years 
before the date of Listing Statement by the Issuer or a subsidiary of the Issuer. 

 
Instruction: 
(1) The term "material contract" for this purpose means a contract that can reasonably be 

regarded as material to a proposed investor in the securities being listed and may in 
some circumstances include contracts with a person or company providing the Issuer 
with promotional or investor relations services. 

(2) Set out a complete list of all material contracts, indicating those that are disclosed 
elsewhere in Listing Statement and provide particulars about those material contracts 
for which particulars are not given elsewhere in the Listing Statement. 

(3) Particulars of contracts should include the dates of, parties to, consideration provided 
for in, and general nature of, the contracts. 
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22.2 If applicable, attach a copy of any co-tenancy, unitholders' or limited 
partnership agreement. 

 
23 Interest of Experts 
 
No update from 2021 Listing Statement. 
 
23.1 Disclose all direct or indirect interests in the property of the Issuer or of a 

Related Person of the Issuer received or to be received by a person or 
company whose profession or business gives authority to a statement made by 
the person or company and who is named as having prepared or certified a part 
of the Listing Statement or prepared or certified a report or valuation described 
or included in the Listing Statement. 

 
23.2 Disclose the beneficial ownership, direct or indirect, by a person or company 

referred to in section 23.1 of any securities of the Issuer or any Related Person 
of the Issuer. 

 
23.3 For the purpose of section 23.2, if the ownership is less than one per cent, a 

general statement to that effect shall be sufficient. 
 
23.4 If a person, or a director, officer or employee of a person or company referred 

to in section 23.1 is or is expected to be elected, appointed or employed as a 
director, officer or employee of the Issuer or of any associate or affiliate of the 
Issuer, disclose the fact or expectation. 

 
24. Other Material Facts 
 
No update from 2021 Listing Statement. 
 
24.1 Give particulars of any material facts about the Issuer and its securities that are 

not disclosed under the preceding items and are necessary in order for the 
Listing Statement to contain full, true and plain disclosure of all material facts 
relating to the Issuer and its securities. 

 
25. Financial Statements  

Please refer to the Annual Audited Financial Statements for the year ended June 
30, 2022 attached as Appendix A. 
 
25.1  Provide the following audited financial statement for the Issuer: 
 

(a) copies of all financial statements including the auditor's reports required 
to be prepared and filed under applicable securities legislation for the 
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preceding three years as if the Issuer were subject to such law; and 
 
(b)  a copy of financial statements for any completed interim period of the 

current fiscal year. 
 

25.2 For Issuers re-qualifying for listing following a fundamental change provide 
 

(a) the information required in sections 5.1 to 5.3 for the target; 
 
(b) financial statement for the target prepared in accordance with the 

requirements of National Instrument 41-101 General Prospectus 
Requirements as if the target were the Issuer; 

(c) pro-forma consolidated financial statements for the New Issuer giving 
effect to the transaction for: 

 
(i) the last full fiscal year of the Issuer, and 

(ii) any completed interim period of the current fiscal year.  
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

To the Shareholders of The Good Flour Corp.  

Opinion 

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of The Good Flour Corp. (formerly LOOPShare Ltd.) (the 
“Company”), which comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at June 30, 2022 and 2021, and the 
consolidated statements of loss and comprehensive loss, changes in shareholders’ equity and cash flows for the years 
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies 
(collectively, the “financial statements”). 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
the Company as at June 30, 2022 and 2021, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the years then ended 
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards.  

Basis for Opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section 
of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our 
audit of the financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis 
for our opinion.  

Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern 

Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 2 in the financial statements, which describes events and 
conditions that indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt about the Company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern. 

Other Information 

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in 
Management’s Discussion and Analysis. 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of 
assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information identified 
above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements 
or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.   

We obtained Management’s Discussion and Analysis prior to the date of this auditor’s report. If, based on the work we 
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report 
that fact.  We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements  

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to 
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company's ability to continue as a 
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company's financial reporting process. 

 
 



 

 

 

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 
As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional 
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

 Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement 
resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

 Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Company’s internal control. 

 Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by management. 

 Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and based 
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may 
cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the 
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based 
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions 
may cause the Company to cease to continue as a going concern. 

 Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, 
and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing 
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify 
during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor's report is David Goertz. 

 

DALE MATHESON CARR-HILTON LABONTE LLP 
CHARTERED PROFESSIONAL ACCOUNTANTS 
Vancouver, BC  

November 2, 2022 
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The Good Flour Corp. 
(Formerly LOOPShare Ltd.) 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION  
As at June 30, 2022 and June 30, 2021 

 (Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
 

 Note June 30, 2022 June 30, 2021 

Assets    

Current assets:    

   Cash   $   1,343,681   $   754,802  

   Restricted cash  50,000 - 

   Amounts receivable 7 208,836   70  

   Prepaid expenses and deposits  42,757   -   

   Due from related Party 13 -    81,500  

   Inventory 8 90,434   -   

Total current assets  1,735,708   836,372  
    

Non-current assets:    

Right of use assets 11 311,480   -   

Property and equipment 9 709,320   -   

Total Assets  $  2,756,508   $  836,372  

Liabilities and Shareholders’ Equity    

Current liabilities:    

   Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 12 $  975,614   $  120,066  

   Lease liability  11 204,182   -   

Total current Liabilities  1,179,796   120,066  

    

Non-current liabilities:    

   Loans payable 14 57,372   -   

   Lease liability  11 116,030   -   

   Convertible debentures  15 475,365   -   

Total Liabilities  $  1,828,563  $  120,066  

 

  

 

Shareholders’ Equity  

   Common shares 16 $  3,615,291   $  474,000  

   Reserves   16 2,991,532   376,000  

   Deficit  (5,678,878) (133,694) 

Total Shareholders' Equity  $  927,945   $  716,306  

Total Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity   $  2,756,508  $  836,372  

Nature of operations and going concern (Note 1 and 2) 
Subsequent event (Note 24) 

Approved on November 2, 2022 by the directors: 

“MATTHEW CLAYTON”     “DEAN GOLBECK” 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 



 

2 
 

The Good Flour Corp. 
(Formerly LOOPShare Ltd.) 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF LOSS AND COMPREHENSIVE LOSS  
For the Years Ended June 30, 2022 and 2021 

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
 

  For the year ended June 30 

  2022 2021 
 Note   

Revenue 18 $     481,407   $              -   

Cost of Sales 8, 19 (612,249) -   

Gross Margin  (130,842)   -   
    

Expenses    

Operating expenses:    

Depreciation 9, 10,11 70,548   -   

Finance costs 11,14,15 61,177   -   

General and administrative 13, 19 1,328,026   133,194  

Sales and marketing 19 375,062   -   

Share-based compensation 6, 13, 16 383,657   -   

  Total expenses  2,218,470   133,194  
    

  Net loss before other items  $ (2,349,312) $ (133,194) 
    

Other items    

Foreign exchange gain 
Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets 10 

54,079 
(610,598) 

-   

Impairment of property and equipment 9 (115,549) - 

Listing expense 5 (2,422,483) - 

Loss on settlement of convertible debentures 15 (31,989) -   

Loss from continuing operations  $(5,475,852) $(133,194) 

Net loss from discontinued operations 17 (69,332) -   

Net loss and comprehensive loss for the year  $(5,545,184) $(133,194) 

Loss per share from continuing operations – basic and diluted   $0.10 $0.01  

Loss per share from discontinued operations – basic and diluted $      -    $      - 

Weighted average number of common shares  63,284,468   34,000,000  

 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 



 

3 
   

The Good Flour Corp. 
(Formerly LOOPShare Ltd.) 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY 
For Years Ended June 30, 2022 and 2021 

 (Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
 

   Reserves   

 
Common Amount 

Stock 
Options 

Warrants 
Convertible 

Debt 
Total Reserve Deficit Total 

Shares ($) ($) ($) ($) ($) ($) ($) 

     
 

  
Balance, June 30, 2020 100  1   -    -    -    -    (500) (501) 

         

Units issued for cash  34,000,000   474,000   -    376,000    -    376,000    -    850,000  

Shares redeemed for cash (100) (1) - - - - - (1) 

Comprehensive loss for the year -    -    -    -    -    -    (133,194) (133,194) 

Balance, June 30, 2021 34,000,000   474,000   -    376,000   -    376,000   (133,694) 716,306  
         -   

Units issued for cash  26,075,000   2,788,250   -    2,226,750   -    2,226,750   -    5,015,000  
Issuance of convertible 
debentures 

-    -    -    -    72,476   72,476  -    72,476  

Shares deemed issued on 
reverse takeover 

3,209,468   353,041   -    -    -    -    -   353,041  

Warrants deemed issued on 
reverse takeover 

- - - 2,000 - 2,000 - 2,000 

Stock options deemed issued on 
reverse takeover 

- - 3,125 - - 3,125 - 3,125 

Convertible debt deemed issued 
on reverse takeover 

- - - - 17,653 17,653 - 17,653 

Repayment of convertible debt - - - - (17,653) (17,653) - (17,653) 

Share-based compensation   -    -    311,181   -    -   311,181  -   311,181 

Comprehensive loss for the year -    -    -    -    -    -    (5,545,184) (6,158,184) 

Balance, June 30, 2022 63,284,468  3,615,291  314,306  2,604,750   72,476  2,991,532   (5,678,878) 927,945  

 
 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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The Good Flour Corp. 
(Formerly LOOPShare Ltd.) 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS  
For the Years Ended June 30, 2022 and 2021 

 (Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
 

 For the Year ended June 
  2022 2021 

 
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 

   

Net loss from continuing operations   $   (5,475,852) $  (133,194) 

Items not involving cash    

Depreciation  170,887   -   

Finance costs  44,415   -   

Share-based payment  383,657   -   

Listing expense  2,422,483   -   

Loss on settlement of debt  31,989   -   

Foreign exchange (54,079)   -   

Impairment of goodwill and intangible assets 610,598 - 

Impairment of property and equipment 115,549 - 

Changes in non-cash working capital    

Restricted cash (50,000) - 

Amounts receivable (212,629) (70) 

Prepaid expenses and deposits (17,982) -   

Inventory (80,434) -   

Accounts payables and accrued liabilities (1,031,807) 119,566  

Cash used in operating activities  $   (3,143,205) $   (13,698) 
    

Net loss from discontinued operations  (69,332) -   

Items not involving cash    

Loss on write-down of loans receivable  65,643   -   

Changes in non-cash working capital    

Accounts payables and accrued liabilities  16,534 - 

Cash provided by discontinued operations  $         12,845  $              -   

 
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES 

   

Purchase of property and equipment  (796,342) -   

Loans repaid (issued)  81,500    (81,500) 

Cash acquired on acquisitions  53,562   -   

Cash used in investing activities  $    (661,280) $   (81,500) 
 
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES    
Issuance of common shares  5,015,000   850,000  

Repayment of convertible debentures  (337,962) -   

Lease payments  (106,126) -   

Repayment of advances  (190,393) - 

Cash provided by financing activities  $   4,380,519   $  850,000  

Net increase in cash  $      588,879   $  754,802  

Cash, beginning of the year  754,802   $              -   

Cash, end of the year  $   1,343,681   $  754,802  

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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1. NATURE OF OPERATIONS 
 
The Good Flour Corp., (the “Company” or “GFCO”) (formerly LOOPShare Ltd.) was incorporated under the 
provisions of The Business Corporations Act (Saskatchewan) on September 25, 2009. On September 4, 2014, 
the Company completed its continuance to British Columbia under the Business Corporations Act (British 
Columbia). The Company’s head office, principal address and the registered and records office are located at 
5791 Sidley Street, Burnaby, BC V5J 5E6. 
 
On July 8, 2021, the Company announced the signing of a share exchange agreement whereby it proposed to 
acquire 100% of the issued and outstanding shares of VGAN Brands Inc. (“VGAN”) in exchange for 60,075,000 
common shares of the Company (the “VGAN Transaction”). The completion of the VGAN Transaction was 
contingent on VGAN completing an acquisition (the “Ghetto Transaction”) of all issued and outstanding share 
capital of The Gourmet Ghetto Food Ltd. (“Ghetto”). Ghetto manufactures and distributes a line of healthy, 
gluten-free and allergen free food products. 
 
On November 4, 2021, VGAN completed the Ghetto Transaction. On November 5, 2021, the Company 
completed the VGAN Transaction. On November 8, 2021, the Company began trading on the Canadian 
Securities Exchange (“CSE”) under the symbol “GFCO”. The VGAN Transaction constituted a Reverse 
Takeover (“RTO”). The consolidated statements of financial position are presented as a continuance of VGAN 
and the comparative figures presented are those of the VGAN (Note 5).  
 
On December 31, 2021, VGAN and Ghetto were amalgamated under the Business Corporations Act (British 
Columbia). 
 

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION 
 

Statement of Compliance 
 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”), and 
interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (“IFRIC”).  
 
These consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on November 2, 2022. 
 
Going Concern 
 
These financial statements have been prepared on the assumption that the Company will continue as a going 
concern, meaning it will continue in operation for the foreseeable future and will be able to realize assets  and  
discharge  liabilities  in  the  ordinary  course  of  operations.    Different bases of  measurement may be 
appropriate if the Company was not expected to continue operations for the foreseeable future.  As at June 30, 
2022, the Company has not achieved profitable operations, has accumulated losses of $5,678,878 since inception  
and  expects  to  incur  further  losses  in  the  development of its business. The aforementioned conditions have 
resulted in material uncertainties that may cast  significant  doubt  about  the  Company’s  ability  to  continue  
as  a  going  concern.  The  Company’s  continuation  as  a  going  concern  is  dependent  upon  its  ability  to  
attain  profitable  operations to generate funds or its ability to raise equity capital or borrowings sufficient to 
meet its current and future obligations. Although the Company has been successful in the past in raising funds 
to continue operations and management is intending to secure additional financing as may be required, there is 
no assurance it will be able to do so in the future. These financial statements do not include any adjustments 
that might result from the outcome of this uncertainty.  Should the Company be unable to continue as a going 
concern, the net realizable value of its assets may be materially less than the amount on its statement of financial 
position. 
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2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued) 

Basis of Measurement 
 
The preparation of financial statements in compliance with IFRS requires management to make judgments, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the application of policies and reported amounts of assets and liabilities, 
profit and expenses. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and various 
other factors that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the basis of 
making the judgments about carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other 
sources. Actual results may differ from these estimates. The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed 
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is 
revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision 
affects both current and future periods. See Note 4 for use of estimates and judgments made by management in 
the application of IFRS.  
 
The financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for financial instruments measured 
at their fair value. In addition, these financial statements have been prepared using the accrual basis of 
accounting, except for cash flow information.  
 
These financial statements are presented in Canadian Dollars, unless otherwise stated. The Canadian dollar is 
the functional and presentation currency of the Company. 
 
Basis of Consolidation 
 
These consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Company and entities 
controlled by the Company (its subsidiaries). Control exists when the Company has power over an investee, 
exposure or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and the ability to use its power 
over the investee to affect the amount of the Company’s returns. 
 
These consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of the Company and its significant 
subsidiaries listed below: 

 

  Country of  Functional  % Equity Interest 

Name  Incorporation Currency As at June 30, 2022 

Loop Japan KK  Japan Japanese Yen 100% 

1022313 B.C. Ltd.  Canada Canadian $ 100% 

Good Flour USA Corp.  Nevada, U.S.A. US $ 100% 

The Good Flour Milling Corp.  Canada Canadian $ 100% 
 
 

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 

Financial Instruments 

Initial recognition and measurement  

On initial recognition, all financial assets not classified at amortized cost or fair value through other 
comprehensive income (“FVOCI”) are measured at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL”). On initial 
recognition, the Company can irrevocably designate a financial asset at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or 
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch.  
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

Financial Instruments (Continued) 

The classification of financial assets is generally based on the business model in which a financial asset is 
managed and its contractual cash flow characteristics.  

A financial asset is measured at amortized cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated 
at FVTPL: 

 It is held within a business model whose objective is to hold the financial asset to collect the contractual 
cash flows associated with the financial asset instead of selling the financial asset for a profit or loss; 
and  

 Its contractual terms give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and interest.  

All financial instruments are initially recognized at fair value net of transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to its acquisition on the statement of financial position except for financial assets at FVTPL where 
transaction costs are expensed. Subsequent measurement of financial instruments is based on their 
classification. Financial assets and liabilities classified at FVTPL are measured at fair value with changes in 
those fair values recognized in net loss. Financial assets classified at amortized cost and financial liabilities 
are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method. 

The Company’s financial instruments are classified as follows: 

Financial Assets/Liabilities  Classification and Measurement 
Cash  FVTPL 
Restricted cash  FVTPL 
Amounts receivables  Amortized cost 
Due from related party  Amortized cost 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  Amortized cost 
Loan payable  Amortized cost 
Convertible debentures  Amortized cost 

 

Fair value hierarchy  

Fair value measurements of financial instruments are required to be classified using a fair value hierarchy 
that reflects the significance of inputs used in making the measurements. The levels of the fair value hierarchy 
are defined as follows:  

Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.  

Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the  

asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.  

Level 3: Inputs for assets or liabilities that are not based on observable market data.  

Impairment of financial assets at amortized cost  

The Company recognizes a loss allowance for expected credit losses (“ECL”) model on financial assets that 
are measured at amortized cost. The credit loss model groups receivables based on similar credit risk 
characteristics and days past due in order to estimate bad debts. The ECL model applies to the Company’s 
receivables.  



The Good Flour Corp.  
(Formerly LOOPShare Ltd.) 
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
For the Years Ended June 30, 2022 and 2021  
(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

 

8 
 

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

Financial Instruments (Continued) 

An ‘expected credit loss’ impairment model applies, which requires a loss allowance to be recognized based 
on expected credit losses. The estimated present value of future cash flows associated with the asset is 
determined and an impairment loss is recognized for the difference between this amount and the carrying 
amount as follows: the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to estimated present value of the future cash 
flows associated with the asset, discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate, either 
directly or through the use of an allowance account and the resulting loss is recognized in profit or loss for 
the period.  

In a subsequent period, if the amount of the impairment loss related to financial assets measured at amortized 
cost decreases, the previously recognized impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent that 
the carrying amount of the investment at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the 
amortized cost would have been had the impairment not been recognized. 

Financial liabilities  

Financial liabilities are designated as either: (i) fair value through profit or loss; or (ii) other financial 
liabilities. All financial liabilities are classified and subsequently measured at amortized cost except for 
financial liabilities at FVTPL. The classification determines the method by which the financial liabilities are 
carried on the statement of financial position subsequent to inception and how changes in value are recorded. 
Accounts payable and due to related parties are classified under other financial liabilities and carried on the 
statement of financial position at amortized cost.  

The Company derecognizes a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged or cancelled, 
or expire. The Company also derecognizes a financial liability when the terms of the liability is modified 
such that the terms and / or cash flows of the modified instrument are substantially different, in which case a 
new financial liability based on the modified terms is recognized at fair value.  

Gains and losses on derecognition are recognized in profit or loss. 

Cash  

Cash in the statements of financial position comprise cash at banks and on hand, and short-term deposits with 
an original maturity of three months or less, which are readily convertible into a known amount of cash.  The 
Company’s cash is invested with major financial institutions in business accounts and is available on demand 
by the Company for its programs. 

Inventory 

The cost of inventories comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs incurred in 
bringing the inventories to their present location and condition. The costs of purchase include the purchase 
price, import duties and non-recoverable taxes, and transport, handling and other costs directly attributable 
to the acquisition of finished goods, materials or services. The costs of conversion include direct material and 
labour costs, and a systematic allocation of fixed and variable overheads incurred in converting materials into 
finished goods.  
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 
 

Inventory (continued) 
 
Inventory consists primarily of raw materials, including packaging materials, and finished goods. Inventory 
is measured at lower of cost, determined on a weighted average basis, and net realizable value. Costs of raw 
materials include the purchased cost and the costs of finished goods includes costs of materials, labour and 
packing. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated 
costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary to make the sale. If the Company determines that the 
estimated net realizable value of its inventory is less than the carrying value of such inventory, it records a 
charge to cost of sales. 

 
Property and equipment 

Property and equipment are stated at historical cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated 
impairment losses. Cost includes costs paid to acquire assets from third parties.  

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate, 
only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Company and 
the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognized. All 
other repairs and maintenance are charged to the statement of comprehensive loss during the financial period 
in which they are incurred.  

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and are 
recognized in the statement of loss. Amortization is calculated on a straight-line basis as follows:  

• Office Equipment – 2-5 years;  

• Equipment – 7 years;  

• Automobiles – 8 years;  

• Leasehold improvements – Lease term; and  

• Right of use assets – Lease term.  

Provisions 

Provisions are recorded when a present legal or constructive obligation exists as a result of past events where 
it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the 
obligation, and a reliable estimate of the amount can be made. If the effect is material, provisions are 
determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. 

Leases 

At inception of a contract, the Company assesses whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, 
or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of 
time in exchange for consideration. 

The Company recognizes a lease liability and a right-of-use asset at the lease commencement date. The 
lease liability is initially measured as the present value of future lease payments discounted using the interest 
rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, the Company’s applicable incremental 
borrowing rate. The incremental borrowing rate is the rate which the Company would have to pay to borrow, 
over a similar term and with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the 
right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

Leases (Continued) 

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following: 

 fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments, less any lease incentives receivable; 
 variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or 

rate as at the commencement date; 
 amounts expected to be payable by the Company under residual value guarantees; 
 the exercise price of a purchase option if the Company is reasonably certain to exercise that option; 

and 
 payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the Company expects to exercise an option to 

terminate the lease. 

The lease liability is subsequently measured by: 

 increasing the carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability; 
 reducing the carrying amount to reflect the lease payments made; and 
 remeasuring the carrying amount to reflect any reassessment or lease modifications. 

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in future lease payments arising from a change in 
an index or rate, if there is a change in the Company’s estimate of the amount expected to be payable under 
a residual value guarantee, or if the Company changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, 
extension or termination option. 

The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the following: 

 the amount of the initial measurement of the lease liability; any lease payments made at or before 
the commencement date, less any lease incentives received; 

 any initial direct costs incurred by the Company; and 
 an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Company in dismantling and removing the underlying 

asset, restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the underlying asset to the condition 
required by the terms and conditions of the lease, unless those costs are incurred to produce 
inventories. 

The right-of-use asset is subsequently measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and any 
accumulated impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement of the lease liability. It is depreciated 
in accordance with the Company’s accounting policy for property and equipment, from the commencement 
date to the earlier of the end of its useful life or the end of the lease term. Each lease payment is allocated 
between the lease liability and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to net earnings over the lease period 
so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability for each period. 

Share capital 

The Company has adopted a residual value method with respect to the measurement of shares and warrants 
issued as private placement units. The residual value method first allocates value to the more easily 
measurable component based on fair value and then the residual value, if any, to the less easily measurable 
component. 

The fair value of the common shares issued in the private placements was determined to be the more easily 
measurable component and were valued at their fair value, as determined by the closing quoted bid price on 
the announcement date.  The balance, if any, was allocated to the attached warrants.  Warrants that are issued 
as payment for an agency fee or other transaction costs are accounted for as share-based payments. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

Share-based payments  

The Company grants share options to acquire common shares of the company to directors, officers, 
employees, and consultants. The fair value of share-based payments to employees is measured at the grant 
date, using the Black-Scholes option pricing model, and is recognized over the vesting period for employees 
using the graded vesting method. Fair value of share-based payments for non-employees is recognized and 
measured at the date the goods or services are received based on the fair value of the goods or services 
received. If it is determined that the fair value of goods and services received cannot be reliably measured, 
the share-based payment is measured at the fair value of the equity instruments issued using the Black-
Scholes option pricing model.  

For both employees and non-employees, the fair value of share-based payments is recognized as an expense 
with a corresponding increase in reserves. The amount recognized as expense is adjusted to reflect the number 
of share options expected to vest. Consideration received on the exercise of stock options is recorded in share 
capital and the related share-based payment in reserves is transferred to share capital.  

Where the terms and conditions of options are modified before they vest, the increase in the fair value of the 
options, measured immediately before and after the medication, is also charged to profit or loss over the 
remaining vesting period.  

When a grant of options is cancelled and settled during the vesting period, excluding forfeitures when vesting 
conditions are not satisfied, the Company immediately accounts for the cancellation as an acceleration of 
vesting and recognizes the amount that otherwise would have been recognized for services received over the 
remainder of the vesting period. Any payment made to the employee on the cancellation is accounted for as 
the repurchase of an equity interest, except to the extent the payment exceeds the fair value of the equity 
instrument granted, measured at the repurchase date. Any such excess is recognized as an expense. The 
amounts recorded in reserves for unexercised share options are transferred from reserves to deficit upon their 
expiry or cancellation. 

Loss per share 

The Company presents basic and diluted loss per share data for its common shares, calculated by dividing 
the loss attributable to common shareholders of the Company by the weighted average number of common 
shares outstanding during the period. Diluted earnings per share reflect the potential dilution that could occur 
if the dilutive securities were exercised or converted to common shares.  The dilutive effect of any options 
and warrants are computed by application of the treasury stock method and the effect of convertible securities 
by the “if converted” method.  Diluted loss per share does not adjust the loss attributable to common 
shareholders or the weighted average number of common shares outstanding when the effect is anti-dilutive.   

Income tax 

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred income tax. Tax is recognized in the income statement 
except to the extent that it relates to items recognized directly into equity, in which case the related tax effect 
is recognized in equity. 

Current tax expense is based on the results for the period as adjusted for items that are not taxable or not 
deductible. Current tax expense is calculated using tax rates, laws and government policies that were enacted 
or substantively enacted at the statements of financial position date. 
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

Income tax (Continued) 

Deferred tax is accounted for using a temporary difference approach and is the tax expected to be payable or 
recoverable on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the statement 
of financial position and the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable income. Deferred 
tax is calculated based on the expected manner in which temporary differences related to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities are expected to reverse using tax rates and laws enacted or substantively 
enacted which are expected to apply in the period of reversal. 

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognized in respect of temporary differences that arise on initial 
recognition of assets and liabilities acquired other than in a business combination and which do not affect 
accounting or taxable profit or loss at the time of the transaction. 

Impairment of financial assets 

The measurement of impairment of financial assets is based on expected credit losses.  Accounts receivable 
that are considered collectable within one year or less are not considered to have a significant financing 
component and a lifetime expected credit loss (“ECL”) is measured at the date of initial recognition of the 
receivable. 

The Company applies the simplified approach to providing for ECL’s prescribed by IFRS 9, which requires 
the use of the lifetime expected loss provision for all trade receivables.  In estimating the lifetime expected 
loss provision, the Company will consider historical industry default rates as well as credit ratings of major 
customers.  The Company does not currently have any financial assets subject to this approach. 

Impairment of non-financial assets  

The carrying amounts of non-financial assets are reviewed for impairment whenever facts and circumstances 
suggest that the carrying amounts may not be recoverable. If there are indicators of impairment, the 
recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of any impairment. For the 
purpose of measuring recoverable amounts, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are 
separately identifiable potential cash flow generating units (“CGU’s”). The recoverable amount is the higher 
of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use (being the present value of the expected future 
cash flows of the CGU). An impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the asset’s carrying 
amount exceeds its recoverable amount.  

Non-financial assets that have been impaired in prior periods are tested for possible reversal of impairment 
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the impairment has reversed. If the impairment 
has reversed, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to its recoverable amount but not beyond the 
carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognized for the asset in 
the prior periods. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognized in the statement of operations. 

Intangible assets 

Intangible assets are recorded at cost less accumulated amortization and impairment losses, if any. Intangible 
assets acquired in a business combination are measured at fair value at the acquisition date. Amortization of 
definite life intangible assets is recognized on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives. 

Goodwill  

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price in a business combination over the fair value of net 
tangible assets acquired. Goodwill is not subject to amortization and an impairment test is performed annually 
or as events occur that could indicate impairment. Goodwill is reported at cost less any impairment.  
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3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 

Goodwill (Continued) 

For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are 
separately identifiable cash flows (“CGUs”). To test for impairment, goodwill is allocated to each of the 
Company’s CGUs, groups of CGUs, or an operating segment expected to benefit from the acquisition. 
Goodwill is tested by combining the carrying amounts of equipment, intangible assets, and goodwill and 
comparing this to the recoverable amount. Fair value less costs of disposal is price to be received in an orderly 
transaction between market participants. Value in use is assessed using the present value of the expected 
future cash flows. Any excess of the carrying amount over the recoverable amount is recorded as impairment. 
Impairment charges, which are not tax affected, are recognized in the statement of loss and comprehensive 
loss and are not reversed. 

Revenue 

To determine whether to recognize revenue, the Company follows a 5-step process:  

a) Identifying the contract with a customer;  

b) Identifying the performance obligations;  

c) Determining the transaction price;  

d) Allocating the transaction price to the performance obligations; and  

e) Recognizing revenue when/as performance obligation(s) are satisfied.  

In all cases, the total transaction price for a contract is allocated amongst the various performance obligations 
based on their relative stand-alone selling prices. The transaction price for a contract excludes any amounts 
collected on behalf of third parties.  

Revenue is recognized at a point in time when the Company satisfies performance obligations by transferring 
the promised goods or services to its customers.  

The Company generates revenue from the sale of gluten-free dry food mixes and frozen pizza shells to 
distributors, retailers and restaurants. Most of the Company’s revenues have a single performance obligation, 
which is the promise to transfer the individual goods. The Company recognizes revenue from the sale of  
products upon shipment and when all significant contractual obligations have been satisfied and collection is 
reasonably assured. These criteria are generally met at the time the product leaves the Company’s premises 
and at that point, control has passed to the customer. As the Company acts as the principal in the transaction, 
revenue is recognized on a gross basis. Revenue is measured based on the price specified in the Company’s 
invoice provided to the customer. Revenue is presented net of discounts provided. 

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES 
 
The preparation of these financial statements requires management to make certain estimates, judgments and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and 
the reported amounts of expenses during the reporting period. Actual outcomes could differ from these estimates. 
These financial statements include estimates which, by their nature, are uncertain. The impacts of such estimates 
are pervasive throughout the financial statements and may require accounting adjustments based on future 
occurrences. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised and 
future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. These estimates are based on historical 
experience, current and future economic conditions and other factors, including expectations of future events that 
are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES (Continued) 
 
Management has made critical judgments in the process of applying accounting policies. The judgments with the 
most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the financial statements include: 

 
i) The assessment of the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and its ability to execute its 

strategy by funding future working capital requirements requires judgment. Estimates and assumptions 
are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, such as expectations 
of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. The factors considered by 
management are disclosed in Note 2.  
 

ii) The Company must make an assessment of whether trade receivables are collectible from customers.  
Accordingly, management establishes an allowance for estimated losses arising from non-payment, 
taking into consideration customer credit, current economic trends and past experience.  If future 
collections differ from estimates, future earnings would be affected. 
 

iii) The Company adjusts inventory values so that the carrying values do not exceed the net realizable value. 
The valuation of inventory at the lower of cost or net realizable value requires the use of estimates with 
regards to the amount of current inventory that will be sold, the prices at which it will be sold, and an 
estimate of  expected orders from customers. Additionally, the estimates reflect changes in products or 
changes in demand because of various factors, including the market for products, obsolescence, change 
in product offerings, technology changes and competition. 

 
iv) The determination of whether a set of assets acquired and liabilities assumed in an acquisition constitute 

a business may require the Company to make certain judgments, taking into account all facts and 
circumstances. A business is presumed to be an integrated set of activities and assets capable of being 
conducted and managed for the purpose of providing a return in the form of dividends, lower costs or 
economic benefits.  

 
v) The functional currency of each of the Company and its subsidiaries is the currency of the primary 

economic environment in which the entity operates.  Determination of functional currency may involve 
certain judgments to determine the primary economic environment and the Company reconsiders the 
functional currency of its entities if there is a change in events and conditions which determine the 
primary economic environment. 

 
Significant estimates 
 
The following are key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty that 
have a significant risk of resulting in a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets and liabilities 
within the current and next fiscal financial years: 

 
i) The Company measures the cost of equity settled transactions with employees and non-employees by 

reference to the fair value of the related instrument at the date in which they are granted and fair value 
of services, respectively. Estimating fair value for share-based payments requires determining the most 
appropriate valuation model for a grant, which is dependent on the terms and conditions of the grant.  In 
addition, the option pricing models used require management to make various estimates and assumptions 
in relation to the expected life of the awards, volatility and forfeiture rates.  Significant judgement is 
required in estimating the number of performance shares that are expected to vest.  This estimate is 
subsequently trued up for differences between the number of instruments expected to vest and the actual 
number of instruments vested. 
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES (Continued) 
 
Significant estimates (continued) 
 
ii) The determination of fair value of assets acquired, liabilities assumed, and the fair value of the purchase 

consideration requires the use of various estimates made by management. The classification of a 
transaction as a business combination or asset acquisition depends on whether the assets acquired 
constitute a business in accordance with the criteria set forth in IFRS 3, Business Combination, which 
can be a complex judgement.  
 
The Company bases its estimates and judgments on current facts and various other factors that it believes 
to be reasonable under the circumstances. The actual results experienced by the Company may differ 
materially and adversely from the Company’s estimates and could affect future results of operations and 
cash flows. 
 

iii) The Company assesses its equipment, intangible assets, and goodwill, for possible impairment at each 
reporting date or if there are events or changes in circumstances that indicate the carrying values of the 
assets may not be recoverable. The recoverability of the Company’s asset carrying values is assessed at 
the CGU level. The determination of CGUs is subject to management judgments taking into 
consideration: the nature of the underlying business operations, geographical proximity of operations, 
shared infrastructure, and exposure to market risk.  
 
The assessment of any impairment of equipment, intangible assets and goodwill is dependent upon 
estimates of the recoverable amount that take into account factors such as economic and market 
conditions, timing of cash flows, the useful lives of assets, and their related salvage values. The 
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. Value in use 
is estimated using future cash flow projections, discounted to their present value, expected to arise from 
the CGU to which the goodwill relates. The required valuation methodology and underlying financial 
information that is used to determine value in use requires significant estimates to be made by 
management. These estimates include, but are not limited to, expected levels of activity within the 
gluten-free food products industry, long term projections of future financial performance and the 
selection of appropriate discount rates used to determine the present value of future cash flows. The 
estimated future cash flows are dependent upon a number of factors including, among others, future 
activity levels within the gluten-free food products industry, current economic and market conditions. 
Future activity cannot be predicted with certainty and, as such, actual results may differ from these 
estimates. Changes to these estimates may affect the recoverable amounts of the Company’s CGUs, 
which may then require a material adjustment to their related carrying values. 
 

iv) The determination of other provisions and contingent liabilities is a complex process that involves 
judgments about the outcomes of future events, estimates of timing and amount of future expenditures, 
the interpretation of laws and regulations, and discount rates. The amount recognized as a provision is 
management’s best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present obligation at the end of 
the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the obligation.  
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5. SHARE EXCHANGE AGREEMENT 
 

On November 5, 2021, the Company completed the VGAN Transaction. Pursuant to the share exchange 
agreement, the Company acquired 100% of the issued and outstanding securities of VGAN by issuing one  
share of the Company for each share of VGAN.  
 
The VGAN Transaction does not constitute a business combination as the Company did not meet the definition 
of a business under IFRS 3 Business Combinations. Immediately after the VGAN Transaction, shareholders 
of VGAN owned approximately 93% of the voting rights of the Company. As a result, the VGAN Transaction 
has been accounted for as an RTO transaction with the Company being identified as the accounting acquirer 
and the equity consideration being measured at fair value, using the acquisition method of accounting. These 
consolidated financial statements are a continuation of the financial statements of VGAN and reflect the assets, 
liabilities and operations of VGAN since June 30, 2021. For accounting purposes, VGAN is deemed to have 
acquired the Company as part of the VGAN Transaction. The acquisition did not meet the criteria for a 
business combination and is therefore treated a recapitalization under the scope of IFRS 2 Share Based 
Payments.  
 
The consideration consisted of the outstanding shares, warrants and stock options of the Company which were 
measured at the estimated fair value on the date of acquisition. The fair value of the common shares was 
determined to be $353,041 based on the fair value of the shares deemed issued (3,209,468 shares at $0.11 per 
share). The fair value of the VGAN’s stock options deemed issued was determined to be $3,125 using the 
Black Scholes Option Pricing Model based on the following assumptions: stock price volatility - 118%; risk-
free interest rate - 0.74%; stock price of $0.11 The fair value of the Company’s warrants deemed issued was 
determined to be $2,000 using the Black Scholes Option Pricing Model based on the following assumptions: 
stock price volatility - 96.29%; risk-free interest rate - 1.83%; stock price of $0.11 and an expected life of 5 
years. 
 
Details of the allocation of the purchase consideration are as follows: 
 
Total Consideration:  
3,209,468 common shares measured at a fair value of $0.11 per share $       353,041 
647,921 warrants measured with a fair value of  2,000 
193,050 stock options measured with a fair value of 3,125 
Total $ 358,166 
  
Net identifiable assets (liabilities) acquired  
Cash $42,456 
Amounts receivable    19,220 
Prepaid expenses and deposits 5,987 
Inventory   271,695 
Right of use assets 3,660 
Amounts payable and accrued liabilities   (2,078,278) 
Lease liability (4,765) 
Loans and debentures (324,292) 
Total liabilities  $ (2,064,317) 
  
Listing expense  $   2,422,483 

 
Upon recognition of the convertible debentures included within loans and debentures, an equity portion of 
$17,653 was recognized in convertible debt reserve. 
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6. BUSINESS COMBINATION 
 

On November 4, 2021, VGAN completed the Ghetto Transaction and acquired of all issued and outstanding share 
capital of Ghetto. Ghetto manufactures and distributes a line of healthy, gluten-free and allergen free food products. 

 
The Ghetto Transaction was completed pursuant to a share purchase agreement dated May 21, 2021. In consideration 
for all of the shares of Ghetto, VGAN issued $500,000 of convertible notes with $448,286 being the fair value of the 
liability component and the fair value of the conversion feature being $111,711. The convertible notes are subject to 
a vesting period for future services performed and $72,476 recognized in share-based payments for vesting in the year 
ended June 30, 2022.  

 
At the date of the Ghetto Transaction, VGAN determined that Ghetto constituted a business as defined under IFRS 3, 
Business Combinations, and the Ghetto Transaction was accounted for as a business combination. The consideration 
paid was recognized at the fair value of the liability portion of the convertible notes issued.  
 
The following table shows the finalized allocation of the purchase price to the fair value of the assets acquired and 
liabilities assumed, based on the estimated fair value, including a summary of the identifiable classes of considered 
transferred, and amounts by category of assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the acquisition date: 

 
Consideration paid:   
Fair Value of Convertible Notes  $   448,286 
   
Net identifiable assets acquired 
(liabilities) 

  

Cash  $11,106 
Amounts receivable  42,560 
Inventory  10,000 
Prepaid expenses and deposits  18,788 
Office and equipment  50,566 
Right of use assets  373,217 
Amounts payable and accrued liabilities  (102,952) 
Lease liabilities  (374,937) 
Long-term debt  (227,904) 
Total net liabilities  (199,556) 
   
Intangible assets  195,157 
Goodwill  452,685 
Net assets acquired  $   448,286 

  
 All revenue of the Company for the year ended June 30, 2022 relates to the acquired Ghetto business. 

7. AMOUNTS RECEIVABLE 

 
 June 30, 2022 June 30, 2021 
Trade accounts receivables $                       95,347 $                70              
Sales tax receivable   113,489                           - 
 $                     208,836         $                 70 
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8. INVENTORY 
 

 June 30, 2022 June 30, 2021 
Finished goods  $                   21,276           $                - 
Packaging                    22,868           - 
Raw materials                    37,536           - 
Work in Process                    8,754           - 
 $                    90,434               $                -          

 
Products available for sale are carried at their net realizable value. Finished goods consist of food that has been 
mixed and packaged for shipment. Inventory expensed through cost of sales during the year was $529,834 
(2021-$nil). 

 

9. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT 

  
Leasehold 

Improvements 
Equipment 

Office 
Equipment 

Automobiles Total 

Cost           

As at June 30, 2021  $                   -    $                  -    $               -    $                -    $               -   
Assets acquired in 
acquisition  

              
73,736                27,098            97,458  

               
8,132          206,424  

Additions 
            

121,631              671,157            18,921  -         811,709  
Impairment (195,367) - - - (195,367) 

Balance at June 30, 2022 
- 698,255 116,379 8,132 822,766 

Depreciation           

As at June 30, 2021 
                      -                        -                     -   

                    
-                     -   

Accumulated depreciation 
on acquired assets  73,736                       -             73,990  8,132          155,858  

Depreciation               6,082               22,976            8,347                     -           37,405  

Impairment (79,818) - - - (79,818) 

Balance at June 30, 2022 
- 22,976 82,337 8,132 113,446 

            
 Net book value   $         -   $         675,279   $       34,041   $                -    $     709,320  

 
During the year ended June 30, 2022, depreciation expensed through cost of sales was $37,405 ($2021 – nil). During 
the year ended June 30, 2022, the Company recognized an impairment of leasehold improvement of $115,549. 
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10. INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL 
 
Intangible assets 
 
Intangible assets consist of recipes acquired on the Ghetto transaction. 
 

  Recipes 

Cost   

As at June 30, 2021  $                    -   

Assets acquired in acquisition (note 6)               195,157  

Impairment (195,157) 

Balance at June 30, 2022 - 

Depreciation   

As at June 30, 2021                        -   

Depreciation expense                 37,244  

Impairment (37,244) 

Balance at June 30, 2022 - 

    

 Net book value   $                  -  

 
The recipes are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful life of 5.24 years. 
 
At June 30, 2022, an impairment was recognized in the amount of $157,913 pursuant to the Company’s annual 
impairment assessment. 
 
Goodwill  
 
Pursuant to the acquisition of Ghetto, and as described in Note 6, as at June 30, 2022, the Company has recognized 
$452,685 in goodwill. Further to the Company’s impairment assessment as at June 30, 2022 the Company has 
recognized an impairment of $452,685 on goodwill.  
 
Intangible assets and goodwill are tested annually for impairment by comparing the carrying value of the cash 
generating unit (“CGU”) to the estimated recoverable amount, where the recoverable amount is the higher of the 
fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. Management has prepared an assessment of the development of 
certain recipes and achievement of milestones since the time of acquisition and assessed that there is no 
impairment to the estimated recovery amount.  
 
The Company determined that all of the assets and liabilities acquired from the Ghetto transaction, described in 
Note 6, represent one CGU. The recoverable amount for the CGU is determined using the discounted cash flow 
approach, which discounts the earnings projections derived from the business plans prepared by the Company. 
The projections reflect management’s expectations of revenue, profit margins, capital expenditures, working 
capital, and operating cash flows, which are based on past experience and future expectations of performance.  
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10. INTANGIBLE ASSETS AND GOODWILL (Continued) 
 
As at June 30, 2022, the Company completed its annual impairment test using the following key assumptions of 
its recoverable amount analysis using the value in use method:  
 

 Management has prepared a standard 5-year period projection using growth rates that range from 15% 
in 2023 to 2% in for 2027 based on management’s assessment of future industry trends, internal and 
external resources, and historical data.  

 
 The present value of expected cash flows of each segment is determined by applying a suitable discount 

rate. The discount rate was derived based on the weighted average cost of capital for comparable entities 
in the food production industry, based on market data. The discount rate reflects appropriate adjustments 
related to market risk and specific risk factors of the Company and has been determined to be 14.25%. 
 

 Terminal growth rate of 2.0% is determined due to the entrance of new products in the market and 
possible generic alternatives that may offset population growth. A decrease in the terminal growth rate 
would result in a greater goodwill impairment for the CGU.  

 
Future cash flows are based on various judgements and estimates including actual performance of the business, 
management’s estimates of future performance, and indicators of future industry activity levels.  
 

11. RIGHT OF USE ASSETS 
 
The carrying amounts of the right-of use assets recognized and the movements during the year are as follows:  

  June 30, 2022 June 30, 2021 

Opening balance  $                                      -    $                                          -   

Assets acquired in acquisition (note 6)                                 373,217                                               -   

Asset acquired on share exchange (note 5)                                  3,660                                               -   

Additions 30,841 - 

Depreciation (96,238)                                              -   

      

Balance at June 30, 2022 $                          311,480 $                                          -   
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11. RIGHT OF USE ASSETS (Continued)     

The carrying amounts of the lease liabilities recognized and the movements during the year are as follows: 
 

 June 30, 2022 June 30, 2021 

Opening balance $                                     -      $                                          -   

Lease liabilities assumed on acquisition (note 6) 374,937                                              -   

Lease liabilities assumed on share exchange (note 5) 4,765                                              -   

Additions 30,841 - 

Interest expense 15,795                                              -   

Lease payments (106,126)                                              -   

Balance at June 30, 2022 $                        320,212    $                                          -   

      
 
Which consist of: 

    

Current lease liability 204,182                                              -   

Non-current lease liability 116,030                                              -   

   $                       320,212   $                                           -   

 
The Company's right-of-use asset and lease liability relate to the office and plant premises. As at June 30, 2022 
future payments required are as follows: 

 June 30, 2022
 

Payable not later than one year $     204,182
Payable later than one year and not later than five years 116,030

 $     320,212
 
On November 4, 2021, as a part of the Ghetto transaction, the Company acquired leases with details as follows: 
 

 Description Term Renewal option Expiry 
Lease 1 Production facility 3 years 3 years September 30, 2024 
Lease 2 Production facility 2 Years 2 years October 31, 2023 
Lease 3 Storage facility 1 year None August 31, 2022 

 
 
During the year ended June 30, 2022, the Company extended Lease 3 for one year. There is no renewal option and the lease 
expires August 31, 2023.  The company has not included the renewal options in leases 1 and 2 in its calculation of the lease 
liability as determined that it is not reasonably certain to exercise these options. 
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12. ACCOUNTS PAYABLE AND ACCRUED LIABILITIES 
 

  June 30, 2022  June 30, 2021 
Accounts payable  $ 854,838 $ - 
Accrued liabilities  120,776  120,066 
 $ 975,614 $ 120,066 

 
13. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 

 
During the years ended June 30, 2022 and 2021, the Company incurred the following related party transactions: 
 
The Company has identified its directors and senior officers as its key management personnel. No post-
employment benefits, other long-term benefits and termination benefits were made during the year ended June 
30, 2022. 
 
Key Management Compensation  

 
The Company incurred the following transactions with directors, officers and companies that are controlled by 
directors of the Company.  

 
             For the year ended June 30,  
 2022 2021 
Salary and management fees $         378,250 $               - 
Legal fees 110,543 - 
Share-based compensation expensed 275,121 - 
 $      763,914 $               - 

 
The following amounts are payable and due to/from related parties. These amounts are unsecured, are non-
interest bearing and have no fixed terms of repayment. 

 
 June 30, 2022 June 30, 2021 
 $ $ 
Due to directors and officers 32,767 - 
Due from related parties                                  - (81,500) 
Convertible debentures 313,800  
 $               346,567          $               (81,500)         

 
a) During the period related party loans totaling $81,500 were repaid. 
b) Included in legal fees is $110,543 paid to a law firm in which the director has a partnership interest and is 

included in accounting and legal in the financial statements. 
c) Included in share-based compensation is the fair value of the vesting for the issuance of 5,750,000 stock 

options granted to directors and officers of the Company. 
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14. LOANS PAYABLE  
 
The Company assumed Canada Emergency Business Account loans (“CEBA Loans”) through its mergers and 
acquisitions during the year ended June 30, 2022 (notes 5 and 6). The CEBA Loans bear 0% interest until 
December 31, 2023.  If the balance is not paid by December 31, 2023, the remaining balance will be converted 
to a 3-year term loan at 5% annual interest paid monthly, commencing January 1, 2024.  The Company anticipates 
repaying the loans before December 31, 2023. 
 
The loans are carried at amortized cost based on an average market interest rate of 14%. During the year ended 
June 30, 2022, interest accretion was $2,949 (2021 - $nil).  

 
15. CONVERTIBLE DEBENTURES 
 

 June 30, 2022 June 30, 2021 
 $ $ 
Opening balance - - 
Acquired in share exchange (note 5)                      286,027 - 
Issued on acquisition (note 6)                       448,286 - 
Finance costs                         27,079 - 
Repayment of principal                    (286,027) - 
 $               475,365          $               -         

 
During the year ended June 30, 2022, the following transactions with convertible debentures occurred:  
 
(a) The Company assumed convertible debentures totaling $286,027 as a part of the share exchange transaction 

(note 6). The debentures accrue interest at a rate of 10% per annum. The  
debentures were repaid by the Company on December 9, 2021. Finance costs for the period up to repayment 
were $6,730. There was a loss on settlement of $31,989 from repayment of the convertible debentures.  

 
(b) As a part of the Ghetto Transaction (note 6) the Company issued convertible debentures of $500,000. The 

notes bear no interest and are payable as follows: 
 

(i) 12.5% of the principal sum on the date that is 3 months from the date of issuance (Nov. 5) 
(ii) 12.5% of the principal sum every 3 months thereafter; and 
(iii) The final 12.5% on the date that is 24 months from the date of issuance.  

 
On each vesting date the former shareholders of Ghetto will have the option to receive either their respective 
portion of cash or an amount equal to their respective portion in consideration shares. The exact number of 
common shares will be based on a price per share of $0.20. 

 
16. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES 
 

(a) Authorized 
 

An unlimited number of common shares without par value. 
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16. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (CONTINUED) 
 

(b) Share Issuances 
 

The following common shares were issued during the year ended June 30, 2022: 
 
 On July 23, 2021, the Company issued 2,000,000 units for total proceeds of $200,000.  Each unit is 

comprised of one common share and common share purchase warrant.  Each full warrant will entitle the 
holder thereof to purchase one common share at a price of $0.15 per common share.  The warrants expire 
five years from date of issuance.  The estimated fair value of the warrants of $60,000 was calculated 
using the Black Scholes Option Pricing Model with the following grant-date assumptions: grant date 
stock price, $0.07; expected life, 5 years; expected volatility, 124%; risk free rate, 0.72%; and expected 
dividends, 0%. The residual amount of $140,000 was attributed to the shares. 
 

 On October 29, 2021, the Company issued 24,075,000 units for total proceeds of $4,815,000.  Each unit 
is comprised of one common share and common share purchase warrant.  Each full warrant will entitle 
the holder thereof to purchase one common share at a price of $0.25 per common share.  The warrants 
expire five years from date of issuance.  The estimated fair value of the warrants of $2,166,750 was 
calculated using the Black Scholes Option Pricing Model with the following grant-date assumptions: 
grant date share price, $0.11; expected life, 5 years; expected volatility, 129%; risk free rate, 1.39%; and 
expected dividends, 0%. The residual amount of $2,648,250 was attributed to the shares. 

 
 On November 5, 2021, the Company issued 3,209,468 common shares with a fair value of $353,041 

pursuant to the VGAN Transaction (Note 5). 

The following common shares were issued during the year ended June 30, 2021:  
 

 On March 31, 2021, the Company repurchased 100 common shares for a total cost of $1. 
 

 On March 31, 2021, the Company issued 34,000,000 units for total proceeds of $850,000.  Each unit is 
comprised of one common share and common share purchase warrant.  Each full warrant will entitle the 
holder thereof to purchase one common share at a price of $0.05 per common share. The warrants expire 
five years from date of issuance. The estimated fair value of the warrants of $376,000 was calculated 
using the Black Scholes Option Pricing Model with the following grant-date assumptions: grant date 
stock price $0.014; expected life, 5 years; expected volatility, 141%; risk free rate, 0.74%; and expected 
dividends, 0%. The residual amount of $474,000 was attributed to the shares 
 

(c) Escrow shares  
 
During the year ended June 30, 2022, 2,735 common shares remain in escrow relating to the reverse 
acquisition transaction. 

 
(d) Stock Options 

 
Options to purchase Common Shares may be granted to directors, consultants, officers and employees of the 
Company for terms up to five years at a price at least equal to the market price prevailing on the date of the 
grant. 
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16. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (CONTINUED) 
 
(d) Stock Options (Continued) 

 
The continuity of the stock options for the year ended June 30, 2022 and the year ended June 30, 2021 is as 
follows: 

 

 Options Weighted Average Exercise Price 
Balance, June 30, 2020 - - 
   Granted 3,000,000 0.20 
Balance, June 30, 2021 3,000,000                                               0.20 

Deemed issued on reverse takeover (note 5) 193,050 4.44 
Granted 6,850,000 0.20 
Cancelled (3,035,500) 0.25 

Balance, June 30, 2022 7,007,550   $                0.29 
 

On May 28, 2021, the Company executed a consulting agreement with a food products marketing consultant.  
The agreement provides for the consultant to be granted 3,000,000 incentive stock options at an exercise 
price of $0.20 and a maturity date of May 28, 2026 to be vested on achieving certain milestones.  None of 
the incentives had been earned as at March 31, 2022. The consulting agreement was subsequently cancelled 
on May 14, 2022 and these options were forfeited. 
 
On November 5, 2021 the Company granted 6,850,000 options to certain employee as a part of its 
compensation plan. The options vest over 5 years and are exercisable at $0.20. 
 
On November 5, 2021 as a part of the VGAN Transaction (note 5) the Company issued 193,050 stock options 
that have an average exercise price of $4.44. 
 
On February 5, 2022, 28,000 options with a weighted average exercise price of $4.66 were cancelled. 
 
On June 1, 2022 5,000 options with an exercise price of $6.00 were cancelled.  
 
On June 21, 2022, 2,500 options with an exercise price of $4.00 were cancelled. 
 

The fair value of the options has been estimated using the Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model assuming a 
grant date share price of $0.11, risk-free rate of 1.26% with an expected life of 5 years, expected volatility of 
116% and no expected dividend. The weighted average grant date fair value of these options was $0.08 per 
option. 

 
Details of options outstanding and exercisable at June 30, 2022 are as follows: 

 

Number of 
Options 

Outstanding 

Number of 
Options 

Exercisable 

 
Exercise 

Price 
 

Expiry Date 

Weighted 
Average 
Exercise 

Price 
Remaining 

Life (Years) 

13,050 13,050 $5.00 November 23, 2023 $5.00 1.4 
21,500 21,500 $6.00 July 18, 2024 $6.00 2.05 

123,000 123,000 $4.00 January 3, 2025 $4.00 2.52 
6,850,000 3,532,773 $0.20 November 5, 2026 $0.20 4.35 
7,007,550 3,690,323   $0.29 4.26 
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16. SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES (CONTINUED) 
 
(d) Stock Options (Continued) 

 
For the year ended June 30, 2022, the Company recorded stock-based compensation of $311,181 in respect 
of incentive stock options. 

 
(e) Warrants 

 
The continuity of warrants for the year ended June 30, 2022 and 2021 is as follows: 

 
 Warrants 

outstanding Exercise  Price 
Balance, June 30, 2020 - - 
   Granted 34,000,000 0.05 
Balance, June 30, 2021 34,000,000                                              $          0.05 

Granted 26,075,000 0.12 
Deemed issued on reverse takeover 33,453 3.90 

Balance, June 30, 2022 60,108,453   $         0.14 
 
 At June 30, 2022, the following warrants were outstanding: 
 

 
Expiry Date 

Number of 
Warrants issued 
and exercisable  Exercise Price 

Weighted average 
remaining contractual life 

(years) 
    

January 22. 2023 33,453 $3.90 1.0 
March 31, 2026 34,000,000 $0.05 4.2 
July 23, 2026 2,000,000 $0.15 4.5 
October 29, 2026 24,075,000 $0.25 4.8 
 60,108,453 $0.14 4.0 
 
    

17. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS 
 

On November 5, 2021, the Company completed the VGAN Transaction entered into the share exchange 
agreement and GFCO acquired 100% of the issued and outstanding common shares of the GFMC (note 5). At 
the time of the VGAN Transaction, the Company was in the process of liquidating the assets of its former scooter 
business. During the year ended June 30, 2022, the former business transactions have been classified as 
discontinued operations as the former business meets the criteria of discontinued operations under IFRS 5.  
 
The following summarizes the accounting information relating to the discontinued operations for the year ended 
June 30, 2022 
 

Statement of comprehensive loss  2022 
   

Scooter sales  $  12,845  

General and administrative  
Loss of write-down of loan receivable 

(16,524) 
(65,643) 

Net loss for the year       $(69,322) 
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17. DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS (Continued) 
 
Revenues were from the sale of scooters. All revenues for the year ended June 30, 2022 are from North America. 
 
On January 1, 2022, the Company entered into an agreement with Raytroniks Corporation (“Raytroniks”) and 
Willie Ray Norwood Jr. to transfer its legacy Scoot-E-Bike assets to Raytroniks. The assets include intellectual  
property, Scoot-E-Bike inventory and the Company’s ownership of Scoot-E-Bike Inc. In return, Raytroniks 
settled all debt claims owed to them by the Company.  
 
On January 11, 2022, the Company entered into an asset purchase agreement with West Hall Tech Ltd. to sell 
assets including: scooter inventory including parts and components, all rights and logos held by the Company to 
the unregistered trademarks “LOOPShare” and “Loop Scooters” and the loopscooters.com domain name. In 
return, West Hall Tech Ltd. entered into a lease agreement with the Landlord at 131 Water Street, the Company’s 
former premises and assumed responsibility for the disposal of the assets.  
 

18. REVENUES 
 
Revenue for the year ended June 30, 2022 from the sales of dry food mixes and frozen food products totaled 
$481,407.  All revenues for the year ended June 30, 2022 are from North America. 
 
Three major customers accounted for 65%, 11% and 15% of the Company’s revenue for the year ended June 30, 
2022 and made up of 33%, 16% and 37% of the trade receivables as at June 30, 2022. The Company evaluates 
the concentration of credit risk with respect to these trade accounts receivables as low, as these customers are of 
high credit ratings. 

 
19. EXPENSES BY NATURE 
 

For the year ended June 30, 2022:  
 2022 2021  

Cost of 
sales 

General and 
administrative 

Sales and 
marketing 

General and 
administrative 

Personnel $115,549 $   461,198  $             - $                   - 
Travel -             57,256  -                      - 

Office 20,652           250,341  -                      - 

Depreciation 100,339 - - - 

Raw Materials 376,099 - - - 

Consulting -                      -      297,879                       - 
Accounting and legal -           559,231                -          133,194 

Advertising and marketing fees -                      -   77,183  - 

 Totals $612,249      $1,328,026 $ 375,062  $      133,194  
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20. INCOME TAXES 
 
Future tax benefits which may arise as a result of these non-capital losses and other income tax pools have not 
been recognized in these financial statements and have been offset by a valuation allowance. No deferred income 
tax asset has been recognized because the amount of future taxable profit that will be available to realize such 
assets is unpredictable. The ultimate realization of deferred income tax assets is dependent upon the generation 
of future taxable income during the periods in which those temporary differences become deductible. 
Management considers the scheduled reversal of deferred income tax liabilities, projected future taxable income, 
and tax planning strategies in making this assessment. The amount of deferred income tax asset considered 
realizable could change materially in the near term based on future taxable income during the carry forward 
period. 

 
 June 30, 2022 June 30, 2021 

   
Loss before income taxes $ (5,545,184) $   (133,194) 
Statutory income tax rate                                          27%   27%        
Expected tax recovery (1,497,200) (35,962) 

   
Non-deductible expenditures and other (1,561,446) - 
Change in unrecognized deferred assets 3,058,646 35,962 
Income tax recovery            $                 -     $                 - 

 
The significant components of deferred tax assets that have not been included in the statements of financial 
position are as follows: 
 

 June 30, 2022 June 30, 2021 
Deferred tax assets:   
   
Non-capital losses $         3,040,069 $           35,962 
Right-of-use assets 2,358 - 
Property and equipment 52,181 - 
     3,094,608 $        $35,962 
Unrecognized deferred tax assets  (3,094,608) (35,962) 
 $                  -  $                   - 

   
As at June 30, 2022 the Company has estimated non-capital losses of $11,259,515 (2021 - $133,000) for 
Canadian income tax purposes that may be carried forward to reduce taxable income expiring in various amounts 
starting from 2030 to 2042. 
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21. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT  
 
The Company is exposed in varying degrees to a variety of financial instrument related risks. The Board of 
Directors approves and monitors the risk management processes, inclusive of documented investment policies, 
counterparty limits, and controlling and reporting structures. The type of risk exposure and the way in which 
such exposure is managed is provided as follows: 

 
(a) Credit risk  

 
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a counter-party to a financial instrument fails to 
meet its contractual obligations. The Company’s maximum exposure to credit loss is the book value of its 
financial instruments. The Company’s cash and cash equivalents is deposited with a major Canadian 
chartered bank and is held in highly-liquid investments. The Company’s receivables consist of taxes 
receivable and trade accounts receivable which represents the maximum credit risk for receivables.  

 
(b) Liquidity risk 

 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they come 
due. The Company attempts to manage liquidity risk by maintaining sufficient cash balances.  Liquidity 
requirements are managed based on expected cash flows to ensure that there is sufficient capital in order to 
meet short-term obligations. As at June 30, 2022, the Company had a cash balance of $1,343,681 (June 30, 
2021 - $754,802) to settle current liabilities of $1,179,796 (June 30, 2021 - $120,066). 
 

(c) Market risk 
 
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to 
changes in market prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk: interest rate risk, foreign currency risk 
and other price risk. 

 
(i) Interest rate risk 

 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
due to changes in market interest rates. The Company’s cash is not subject to interest rate risk. The loan 
payable and convertible debentures are not subject to interest rate risk as they are a fixed rate. The 
Company is not exposed to other significant interest rate risk due to the short-term maturity of its 
monetary assets and liabilities and amounts owing being non-interest bearing or bearing fixed rates of 
interest. 
 

(ii) Foreign exchange risk 
 
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair values of future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because they are denominated in currencies that differ from the respective functional currency. 
The Company’s sales are in US dollars and the Company’s manufacturing costs are largely 
denominated in US dollars, providing a natural hedge against the risk of foreign exchange fluctuations.  
However due to long lead times for parts used in manufacturing the Company’s products, the Company 
is exposed to the risk of foreign currency fluctuations over time.  The Company is also exposed to 
fluctuations in foreign currencies through its operations in Japan.  The Company monitors this exposure 
but has entered into no formal hedge agreements. 
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21. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

 
(ii) Foreign exchange risk (continued) 

 
As at June 30, 2022, the Company was exposed to foreign currency risk through the following financial 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign source currencies. 

 
 

 
(iii) Other price risk 

 
Other price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
due to changes in market prices, other than those arising from interest rate risk or foreign currency risk. 
The Company is not exposed to significant other price risk. 

 
(d) Fair Value of Financial Instruments 

 
Fair value measurement disclosure includes classification of financial instrument fair values in a hierarchy 
comprising three levels reflecting the significance of the inputs used in making the measurements, described 
as follows: 
 
Level 1: Valuations based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 
 
Level 2: Valuations based on directly or indirectly observable inputs in active markets for similar assets or 

liabilities, other than Level 1 prices such as quoted interest or currency exchange rates; and  
 
Level 3: Valuations based on significant inputs that are not derived from observable market data, such as 

discounted cash flow methodologies based on internal cash flow forecasts.  
 

The following table sets forth the Company’s financial assets measured at fair value on a recurring basis by 
level within the fair value hierarchy as follows: 
 

 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 

     $ $ $ 

As at June 30, 2022:    

Cash 1,343,681 – – 

Restricted cash 50,000 - - 

As at June 30, 2021:    

Cash 754,802 – – 

 June 30, 2022 June 30, 2021 
 US Dollar Japanese Yen US Dollar Japanese Yen 
Cash $     6,345         58,968 - - 
Accounts receivable 28,440 - - - 
Accounts payable 52,662 18,078,247 - - 
Total   $   87,447 18,137,215 - - 
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21. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 
 

(d) Fair Value of Financial Instruments (continued) 
 
The carrying values of cash, restricted cash, accounts receivable, due from related party, accounts payable 
approximate their fair value given their short-term nature. The loans payable and convertible debentures are 
recorded at amortized cost. As at June 30, 2022 and June 30, 2021, the Company’s has no Level 3 
instruments. 
 

22. SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOWS 
 
 Year ended Year ended 
 June 30, 2022 June 30, 221 

Cash paid for interest $                      16,762 $                            - 
Cash paid for income taxes - - 
Fair value of shares issued for reverse takeover 353,041 - 
Fair value of stock option issued for reverse takeover 3,125 - 
Fair value of warrants issued for reverse takeover 2,000 - 
Fair value of debt issued for business combination $ 448,286 $            - 

 
23. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 

 
The Company’s objective in managing capital is to ensure sufficient liquidity to pursue its investment growth 
strategy, fund research and development, engage in sales and marketing activities, and undertake selective 
acquisitions, while at the same time taking a conservative approach toward financial leverage and management 
of financial risk. The Company’s capital is composed entirely of equity and short-term loans. The Company uses 
capital to finance operating losses, capital expenditures, and increases in non-cash working capital. The Company 
currently funds these requirements from cash raised through share issuances and short-term debt as required. The 
Company’s objectives when managing capital are to ensure that the Company will continue to have enough 
liquidity help build its business manufacturing and distributing a line of healthy, gluten-free and allergen free 
food products. 
 
The Company monitors its capital on the basis of the adequacy of its cash resources to fund its business plan. In 
order to maximize flexibility to finance growth, the Company does not currently pay a dividend to holders of its 
common shares. The Company did not institute any changes to its capital management strategy during the year. 
 
As at June 30, 2022, the Company had capital resources consisting of all components of shareholders’ equity.  
The Company manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic 
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets.  To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the 
Company may attempt to issue common shares. 
 

24. SUBSEQUENT EVENT 
 
On August 4, 2022, three tranches of convertible debt that was issued to certain related parties on the share 
acquisition on November 4, 2021 were settled by the Company. The related parties were paid $43,750 cash and 
exercised the conversion option to receive $87,500 of common shares for an issuance price of $0.20 as per 
convertible debt agreement.  
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THE GOOD FLOUR CORP. (Formerly LOOPShare Ltd.) 

MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION & ANALYSIS  

For the years ended June 30, 2022 and 2021  

(Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 

This Management’s Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”) of The Good Flour Corp.. (“GFCO” or the 
“Company”) should be read in conjunction with the audited financial statements and accompanying notes 
for the year ended June 30 2022. The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), as issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (“IASB”) and interpretations of the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee 
(“IFRIC”).  

Information contained herein is presented as of November 2, 2022 unless otherwise indicated. Additional 
information related to GFCO is available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com and on the Company’s website at 
www.goodflour.co.   

Unless otherwise indicated, all amounts discussed herein are denominated in Canadian dollars ($), which 
is the functional and reporting currency of the Company. The Company’s year-end is June 30.  

The Company’s board of directors approved the release of this MD&A on November 2, 2022  

FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION 

This MD&A contains certain “forward-looking information” and “forward-looking statements” 
(collectively “forward-looking statements”) within the meaning of applicable Canadian securities 
legislation. When we discuss our strategy, plans, outlook, future financial and operating performance, 
financing plans, growth in cash flow and other events and developments that have not yet happened, we are 
making forward-looking statements. All statements in this MD&A that address events or developments that 
we expect to occur in the future are forward-looking statements, including the following:  

 our expectations in relation to working capital;  
 our expectations in relation to our future financial needs;  
 statements with respect to the Company's future business and growth plans; 
 objectives, its ability to disrupt the global wheat flour market, product details, plans to expand 

production; 
 production capacity and demand for the Company's product; 
 our estimated expenditures for the fiscal year; and 
 our expectations with respect to future revenue generation. 

Forward-looking statements are statements that are not historical facts and are generally, although not 
always, identified by words such as “expect”, “plan”, “anticipate”, “project”, “target”, “potential”, 
“schedule”, “forecast”, “budget”, “estimate”, “intend” or “believe” and similar expressions or their negative 
connotations, or that events or conditions “will”, “would”, “may”, “could”, “should” or “might” occur. All 
such forward-looking statements are based on the opinions and estimates of management as of the date such 
statements are made. Forward-looking statements necessarily involve assumptions, risks and uncertainties, 
certain of which are beyond the Company’s control, including the following: 
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 our dependence on suppliers and customers;  
 our completion of additional financing to continue operations; 
 failure to effectively expand manufacturing and production capacity; 
 the ability to source ingredients; 
 risks associated with global supply chain for machinery and equipment; 
 failure to attract, maintain and expand relationships with key strategic restaurant and food service 

partners; 
 changing consumer taste preferences;  
 delay or failure to receive regulatory approvals;  
 the impact of COVID-19 on global economic conditions; 
 our ability to attract qualified operators;  
 our ability to manage our growth;  
 geopolitical risks;  
 exchange rate risks;  
 regulatory risks;  
 our future operations;  
 our dependence on key personnel;  
 dilution to present and prospective shareholders;  
 losses occur for which the Company does not have third-party insurance coverage increase or the 

Company’s insurance coverages prove to be inadequate; 
 the Company may be a party to litigation in the normal course of business or otherwise, which 

could affect its financial position and liquidity; 
 the Company's information systems may experience an interruption or breach in security; 
 security breaches of our technology systems, or those of our clients or other third-party vendors we 

rely on, could subject us to significant liability; 
 the Company may be exposed to damage to its business or its reputation by cybersecurity incidents 
 the lack of a market for our securities; and  
 our share price.  

Although the Company has attempted to identify factors that could cause actual results to differ materially 
from those described in forward-looking information, there may be other factors that cause results not to be 
as anticipated. Readers should not place undue reliance on forward-looking information. The forward 
looking information is made as of the date of this news release. Except as required by applicable securities 
laws, the Company does not undertake any obligation to publicly update forward-looking information, 
except as required by applicable securities laws. 
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Description of the Business 

The Good Flour Corp., (the “Company” or “GFCO”) was incorporated under the provisions of the Business 
Corporations Act (Saskatchewan) on September 25, 2009. On September 4, 2014, the Company completed 
its continuance to British Columbia under the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia). The 
Company’s head office, principal address and the registered and records office are located at 5791 Sidley 
Street, Burnaby, BC V5J 5E6.  

On July 8, 2021 the Company announced the signing of a share exchange agreement whereby it proposed 
to acquire 100% of the issued and outstanding shares of VGAN Brands Inc. (“VGAN”) in exchange of 
approximately 60,075,000 common shares of the Company (the “VGAN Transaction”). The completion of 
the VGAN Transaction was contingent on VGAN completing an acquisition (the “Ghetto Transaction”) of 
all issued and outstanding share capital of The Gourmet Ghetto Food Ltd. (“Ghetto”).  

On November 4, 2021, VGAN completed the Ghetto Transaction. On November 5, 2021, the Company 
completed the VGAN Transaction. On November 8, 2021, the Company began trading on the Canadian 
Securities Exchange (“CSE”) at the open of market under the symbol “GFCO”. The VGAN Transaction 
constituted a Reverse Takeover (“RTO”) under applicable securities law. The consolidated statements of 
financial position are presented as a continuance of VGAN and the comparative figures presented are those 
of the VGAN (Note 6).  

On December 31, 2021, VGAN and Ghetto were amalgamated under the Business Corporations Act 
(British Columbia) and renamed The Good Flour Milling Corp. 

Following the Completion of the VGAN Transaction, the Company manufactures and distributes a line of 
healthy, gluten-free and allergen free food products. On November 8, 2021, the Company began trading on 
the Canadian Securities Exchange (“CSE”) at the open of market under the symbol “GFCO”. 

The accompanying audited financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, which 
assumes that the Company will be able to meet its obligations and continue its operations for the next twelve 
months. Realization values may be substantially different from carrying values as shown and these financial 
statements do not give effect to adjustments that would be necessary to the carrying values and classification 
of assets and liabilities should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern. Such adjustments 
could be material.  

Business Model 

The Company manufactures and processes a line of gluten-free and allergen free products for individual 
customers and larger, “food service” customers, which include restaurants. Both individual and food service 
customers are located across North America, Australia and the United Kingdom. The Company’s recipes 
were initially created in 2012 and have been developed to allow individuals with gluten and other food 
allergies to enjoy life without giving up their favorite foods or settling for low-quality alternatives. Simply 
put, “Flour” but good for you. The products which have been developed over the last decade under the 
branding “Nextjen” include: All-purpose baking flour; Pizza & pasta flour; Tempura batter mix; Fish & 
chips batter mix; Fried chicken mix; Pancake & waffle mix; Vanilla bean cake mix; and Pizza shells. In the 
Company’s mission to reach an even larger audience, the Company has relaunched these superior mixes 
under a new brand - The Good Flour Co.  

During the month of November 2021, the Company completed the VGAN Transaction. VGAN was the 
parent company of Ghetto. Ghetto was a privately held company that manufactures and distributes a 
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successful line of healthy, gluten-free and allergen free food products. The purpose of this transaction was 
to enter the health food space and gain access to the capital markets.  

Notable Milestones: 

 November, 2021 - After ten years of products branded “NextJen Gluten Free”, the Company 
accomplishes a full rebrand of its products under the “Good Flour Milling Co.” with new logos, 
colors and branding.  

 November, 2021 – the Company leases a new 7000 square foot dry goods manufacturing facility 
in Burnaby, British Columbia, and begins plant construction to expand capacity of Gluten Free Dry 
Goods. 

 November, 2021 – a high speed automated bagging line is ordered from the Paxiom Group in 
Montreal, Quebec and the Company continues plant construction  in Burnaby, British Columbia.  

 November 2021 - the Company successfully lists to the OTCQB Venture Market.  

 December 2022 - the Company continues to supply existing food service customers through 
Gordon Food Service and Sysco with major brands such as Earls, Virtuos Pie, Four Seasons Hotels, 
Fairmont Hotel, Panago Pizza, and Michelin Restaurants like 11 Madison in New York City.  

 February 2022 -  the Company successfully redesigns all corporate material including new direct 
to consumer and investor websites on Shopify platform. 

 April 2022 - the Company successfully partners with one of the largest milling groups in North 
America, Ardent Mills, in North Dakota, for bulk manufacturing of its dry goods to meet demand 
in the gluten-free food service sector in the United States. 

 July 2022 - the automated line ordered from Paxium is received at the Burnaby facility. The 
Company validates technology and begins high speed bagging of its retail product for Canada and 
the United States. 

 September 2022 - The Company announces Canada wide expansion as exclusive provider of its 
gluten-free pizza shells to over 195 Panago locations in Canada, furthering its entry into the pizza 
market.  

 September 2022 - significant depth is added to the Company’s distribution with the addition of 
Harvest Sherwood Distribution, founded in 1989, and who service over 6000 customers in retail, 
foodservice, distribution and manufacturing.   

 September 2022 - the Company moves ahead with a USA-based National order to Sprouts Farmers 
Markets and its 380 location for its Fried Chicken Mix and Fish Batter. 

 October 2022 - the Company signs on with KeHe Distribution in the United States. KeHe supplies 
natural and organic products to more than 30,000 stores, chains and independent grocery. 
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Significant Transactions 

Mergers and Acquisitions  

Share acquisition of the Gourmet Ghetto Food Ltd. 

On November 4, 2021, VGAN completed the Ghetto Transaction and acquired of all issued and outstanding 
share capital of Ghetto. Ghetto manufactures and distributes a line of healthy, gluten-free and allergen free 
food products. 

The Ghetto Transaction was completed pursuant to a share purchase agreement dated May 21, 2021. In 
consideration for all of the shares of Ghetto, VGAN issued $500,000 of convertible notes with $448,286 
being the fair value of the liability component and the fair value of the conversion feature being $111,711. 
The convertible notes are subject to a vesting period for future services performed and $72,476 recognized 
in share-based payments for vesting in the year ended June 30, 2022.  

At the date of the Ghetto Transaction, VGAN determined that Ghetto constituted a business as defined 
under IFRS 3, Business Combinations, and the Ghetto Transaction was accounted for as a business 
combination. The consideration paid was recognized at the fair value of the liability portion of the 
convertible notes issued 

The following table shows the finalized allocation of the purchase price to the fair value of the assets 
acquired and liabilities assumed, based on the estimated fair value, including a summary of the identifiable 
classes of considered transferred, and amounts by category of assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the 
acquisition date: 

Consideration paid:   
Fair Value of Convertible Notes  $ 448,286 
   
Net assets acquired (liabilities)   
Cash  $11,106 
Amounts receivable  42,560 
Inventory  10,000 
Prepaid expenses and deposits  18,788 
Office and equipment  50,566 
Right of use assets  373,217 
Amounts payable and accrued liabilities  (102,952) 
Lease liabilities  (374,937) 
Long-term debt  (227,904) 
Total net (liabilities)  (199,556) 
   
Intangible assets  195,157 
Goodwill  452,685 

 
Reverse Acquisition (RTO) 
 
On November 5, 2021, the Company completed the VGAN Transaction. Pursuant to the share exchange 
agreement, the Company acquired 100% of the issued and outstanding securities of VGAN by issuing one  
share of the Company for one share of VGAN. As a result, control of the Company passed to the 
shareholders of VGAN. The VGAN Transaction constituted an RTO under applicable securities law.  
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For accounting purposes, VGAN is deemed to have acquired the Company as part of the VGAN 
Transaction. The VGAN Transaction was accounted for using the acquisition method of accounting 
whereby the assets acquired, and liabilities assumed were recorded at their estimated fair value at the 
acquisition date. The acquisition did not meet the criteria for a business combination and is therefore treated 
as a recapitalization under the scope of IFRS 2 Share Based Payments.  
 
Details of the allocation of the estimated fair value of identifiable assets acquired and purchase 
consideration are as follows: 
 
 

Total Consideration:  
3,209,468 common shares measured at a fair value of $0.11 per share $       353,041 
647,921 warrants measured at a fair value of  2,000 
193,050 stock options measured at a fair value of 3,125 
Total $358,166 
  
Net identifiable assets (liabilities) acquired  
Cash $42,456 
Amounts receivable    19,220 
Prepaid expenses and deposits 5,987 
Inventory   271,695 
Right of use assets 3,660 
Amounts payable and accrued liabilities   (2,078,278) 
Lease liability (4,765) 
Loans and debentures (324,292) 
Total liabilities  $ (2,064,317) 
  
Listing expense  $   2,422,483 

 
 
Discontinued Operations 
 
At the time of the closing of the VGAN Transaction on November 5, 2021, the Company was in the process 
of liquidating the assets of its former electric scooter business; however, no sales agreement had been 
reached. Sales agreements were reached by the Company in January, 2022 as detailed below. During the 
period ending June 30, 2022, the former business transactions have been classified as discontinued 
operations as they meet the criteria to do so under IFRS 5. The operating result of these discontinued 
operations are as follows: 
 
The following summarizes the accounting information relating to the discontinued operations for the year 
ended June 30, 2022 
 
Statement of comprehensive loss  2022 
   

Scooter sales  $12,845  
General and administrative  
Loss of write-down of loan receivable 

(16,524) 
(65,643) 

Net loss for the year       $(69,322) 
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Statement of cash flow  2022 
   

Net loss from discontinued operations  ($69,322) 
 
Items not affecting cash 

Loss on write-down of loan receivable 

 
 

65,643  
Changes in non-cash working capital  

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 16,524 

Change in cash for the year                 
$12,845 

 
Revenues were from the sale of scooters. All revenues for the year ended June 30, 2022 were from North 
America. The losses recorded on disposal of assets and remeasurement of assets were non-cash, thus the 
disposal of the scooters resulted in $12,845 net cash to the Company. 
 
Details of the sales are as follows: 
 
On January 1, 2022, the Company entered into an agreement with Raytroniks Corporation (“Raytroniks”) 
and Willie Ray Norwood Jr. to transfer its legacy Scoot-E-Bike assets to Raytroniks. The assets include 
intellectual  
property, Scoot-E-Bike inventory and the Company’s ownership of Scoot-E-Bike Inc. In return, Raytroniks 
settled all debt claims owed to them by the Company.  
 
On January 11, 2022, the Company entered into an asset purchase agreement with West Hall Tech Ltd. to 
sell assets including: scooter inventory including parts and components, all rights and logos held by the 
Company to the unregistered trademarks “LOOPShare” and “Loop Scooters” and the loopscooters.com 
domain name. In return, West Hall Tech Ltd. entered into a lease agreement with the Landlord at 131 Water 
Street, the Company’s former premises and assumed responsibility for the disposal of the assets.  

Selected Annual Information 

The table below sets out certain selected financial information regarding the operations of the Company for 
the period indicated. The selected financial information has been prepared in accordance with IFRS and 
should be read in conjunction with the Company’s financial statements and related notes. 

 June 30, 2022 June 30, 2021 June 30, 2020 
 (Audited) (Audited) (Audited) 
Revenues $          481,407 $              - $            - 
Cost of sales (612,249) - - 
Total expenses & other          5,345,010 133,194 - 
Net and comprehensive 
loss for the period 

(5,545,184) (133,194) - 

Basic and diluted loss 
per share 

(0.10) (0.01) - 

Total assets 2,756,508  836,372 - 

During the year ended June 30, 2022, the Company reported a total net loss of $6,158,184 ($0.10 basic and 
diluted loss per share) compared to a net loss of $133,194 ($0.01 basic and diluted loss per share) during 
the year ended June 30, 2021. The decrease in the net loss is mainly attributed to the loss on acquisitions 
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made during the year. During the year ended June 30, 2021, the Company reported a total net loss of 
$133,194 ($0.01 basic and diluted loss per share) compared to a net loss of $nil during the year ended June 
30, 2020. The increase in the net loss is due to legal fees incurred on preparing for the acquisitions and the 
Company did not have any operations during the year ended June 30, 2020. 

Summary of Quarterly Results 

The following tables set forth selected financial information of the Company for the eight most recently 
completed quarters. This information is derived from unaudited quarterly financial statements and audited 
annual financial statements prepared by management in accordance with IFRS. 

For the three months ended 

 June 30, 2022 March 31, 2022 December 31, 2021 
    
Revenues $          182,027 $             185,196 $       114,183 
Cost of sales (220,805) (287,405) (104,039) 
Expenses & other 200,337 545,094 2,152,331 
Net (loss for the period) (239,115) (647,303) (1,890,929) 
Per share – basic and 
diluted 

(0.01) (0.01) (0.07) 

 
 June 30, 2021 March 31, 2021 December 31, 2020 
    
Total Revenues $- $- $             - 
Net and comprehensive 
loss for the period 

(67,931) (65,263) - 

Basic and diluted loss 
per share 

(0.01) (0.01) - 

The Company had no revenue or cost of sales until Ghetto was acquired in the quarter ended December 31, 
2021. Expenses incurred by the Company to that point were legal accounting related. The overall net loss 
for the quarter-ended June 30, 2022 was due to the revaluation of certain non-cash expenditures resulting 
from the reverse takeover and acquisition during the year. The overall net loss that was incurred in the 
quarter ended December 31, 2021 was predominately due to the recorded of listing expense, stock-based 
compensation, and legal fees on RTO and business combination. Prior to March 31, 2021, VGAN (the 
reverse takeover acquiror) did not prepare quarterly financial statements. 

 

Results of operations  

Results for the year-ended June 30, 2022 and 2021 are as follows: 

During the year ended June 30, 2022, the Company recorded a net loss of $5,545,184 as compared to a net 
loss of $133,194 for the year ended June 30, 2021. The net loss for the year ended June 30, 2022 includes 
non-cash expenditures of $383,657 related to share-based payments, $2,422,483 of transaction costs, 
$452,685 of goodwill impairment and $115,549 of property and equipment impairment incurred in 
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accordance with the Company’s asset acquisitions and business combinations.  

Total expenses and other items for the year amounted to $5,345,010 as compared to $133,194 for the 
comparable year ended June 30, 2021, an increase of $5,211,816. This includes non-cash expenditures of 
$3,725,499 for listing expense, share-based payments, goodwill impairment, debt settlements, depreciation 
and certain finance costs.  

The increase in overall revenues expenditures from the prior year can be attributed to the acquisition and 
subsequent initial 8 months of business operations.  

Details of the 2022 revenues and expenditures are as follows: 

Revenue 

Revenue for the year-ended June 30, 2022 was $481,407 which was derived predominantly from the sale 
of Good Flour dry mix products. Revenue reflects income earned in the 8 month period subsequent to the 
acquisition of Ghetto. 

Listing Expense and Share-based compensation 

The Company granted stock options to officers, executives, directors, advisory board members and 
consultants. The expense recognized in a period fluctuates based on the number of underlying stock options 
with respect to their vesting schedules, net of options forfeited. 

Listing expense is a non-cash expense totaling $2,422,483 that was incurred on the RTO.  

Depreciation and Finance Costs 

Depreciation expense consists of depreciation on capital expenditures and depreciation on the right of use 
assets.  

Finance costs are made up of accretion expense recorded on lease liabilities, CEBA loans and convertible 
debt. Cash expenditures on bank charges and interest are also included.  
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General and Administrative Expenses  

All increases in general and administrative costs compared to the prior year can be attributed to 2022 being 
the first year of operations. The breakdown of these expenses is shown below with a brief description of 
the categories following.  

 2022 2022 2021  
Cost of Sales General and 

administration 
General and 

administration 
Personnel $    115,549             $     461,198  $                   - 

Travel -                 57,256                       - 

Office 20,652               250,341                       - 

Raw Materials 376,099   

Depreciation 100,339 - - 

Consulting -                        -                        - 

Accounting & legal -               559,231            133,194  

Totals $612,249          $ 1,328,026         $       133,194  

Personnel includes administrative wages that have not been allocated to cost of sales.  

Office expenses are made up of non-capital expenditures incurred on creating a new office space at the 
Burnaby production facility.  

Accounting and legal fees primarily consist of fees paid to internal legal counsel and payment to external 
counsel for facilitating the VGAN Transaction and Ghetto Transaction.  

Sales and marketing 

All increases in sales and marketing compared to the prior year can be attributed to 2022 being the first 
year of operations. The breakdown of these expenses is shown below with a brief description of the 
categories following 

 2022        2021  
Sales and 
marketing 

Sales and 
marketing 

Consulting    $    297,879            $               -            
Accounting & legal               -                      -  
Advertising and marketing 
fees 

   77,183  - 

Totals  $    375,062         $              -  

Consulting expenses include amounts paid to various sales consultants in Canada and the United States.  
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Other items 

Impairment of goodwill and intangible Assets 

Intangible assets and goodwill are tested annually for impairment by comparing the carrying value of the 
cash generating unit (“CGU”) to the estimated recoverable amount, where the recoverable amount is the 
higher of the fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. Management has prepared an assessment of 
goodwill and intangibles since the time of the acquisition and assessed that there is impairment to the 
estimated recovery amount. Consequently, $610,598 of goodwill and intangible assets recognized on the 
acquisition of Ghetto was written off.  

Loss on settlement of convertible debentures 

This was a non-cash accounting loss on convertible debentures that were acquired as a part of the reverse 
takeover. The debentures were settled during the quarter ended December 31, 2021 

Results for the quarter-ended June 30, 2022 and 2021 are as follows: 

Revenue 

Revenue for the quarter-ended June 30, 2022 was $182,027 which was derived predominantly from the sale 
of Good Flour dry mix products  

Revenues decreased by $3,169 from the prior quarter. The decrease in revenue from the prior quarter is due 
to a change in the accounting for certain marketing rebates. In prior quarters, these rebates were included 
advertising and promotion. They were netted against sales in the fourth quarter of 2022. 

Revenue for the year-ended June 30, 2022 was derived 100% from North America 

Expenses 

The Company recognized total expenses & other items of $356,751 for the quarter ended June 30, 2022. 
This was down from $590,986 in the previous quarter this was due to the non-cash revaluations of listing 
expense, share-based compensation and goodwill during the most recent quarter. 

Share-based compensation decreased $837,343 during the 3 month period ending June 30, 2022. These are 
non-cash expenditures which are the result of changes to the valuation model.   

Listing expense decreased $145,194 during the 3 month period ending June 30, 2022. The decrease is due 
to changes of the valuation of certain assets and liabilities on the reverse takeover that were calculated in 
the fourth quarter of 2022.  

General and administrative 

General and administrative costs increased by $408,271 in the current period. This increase is net of $60,928 
of general and administrative consulting costs were reallocated to sales and marketing during the quarter 
ended June 30, 2022 to better reflect the nature of the expenses. The increase to general and administrative 
costs is due to the increase in personnel costs during the quarter. 



 
 

12 
 

Personnel consists of non-production wages. $461,198 of non-production wages were incurred during the 
period ending June 30, 2022. The increase in these wages over the prior quarter were due to increased hiring 
to keep pace with production increases. Additionally, certain wages not related to production activities were 
reclassified from cost of sales to personnel in the quarter ending June 30, 2022.  

Office expenses mainly consist of non-capital expenses incurred to create the office space in at the new 
Burnaby facility. $125,139 of office related expenses were incurred during the quarter ending June 30, 
2022.  

Sales and marketing 

Sales and marketing expenses increased by $246,246 in the current quarter. The increase was the result of 
payments to sales consultants and the reclassification of consulting fees from general and administration. 
In addition, marketing costs totaling $77,183 were reallocated from cost of sales. 

Consulting fees are made up of fees paid to external sales and marketing staff. Amounts paid to consultants 
are consistent from month to month. Fluctuations from the prior quarter reflect a reclassification of $60,928 
of certain payments from administrative consulting to sales consulting. 

Depreciation expense consists of depreciation on capital expenditures and depreciation on the right of use 
assets. The slight decrease in depreciation expense was the result of a change in accounting estimates.  

Liquidity and capital resources 
 
The statements of financial position as of June 30, 2022, indicated a cash position of $1,393,681 (June 30, 
2021 - $754,802), and total current assets of $1,735,708 (June 30, 2021 - $836,372). The change in current 
assets can be attributed to an in cash due from the issuance of common shares during the year. To a lesser 
degree, inventory and accounts receivable are also a part of the increase.   
 
The total assets of the Company totaled $2,756,508 (June 30, 2021 - $836,372) and primarily consists of 
property and equipment purchased during the year. Specifically, the Company purchased an automated 
bagging line for the production of its dry mixes and additional production equipment to supplement its line 
of frozen products. Additionally, the Company incurred leasehold improvement costs bringing the Burnaby 
production facility online.  
  
The Company’s total liabilities amounted to $1,828,563 (June 30, 2021 - $120,066) that mainly consisted of 
$975,614 in accounts payable and accrued liabilities, and $475,365 in convertible debt that was issued on 
the acquisition of Ghetto.  
 
The breakdown of accounts payable is as follows: 
 

  June 30, 2022  June 30, 2021 
Accounts payable  $ 854,838 $ - 
Accrued liabilities  120.776  120,066 
 $ 975,614 $ 120,066 

 
Included in accounts payable is $708,604 of trade payables that were acquired on the RTO transaction. The 
Company does not expect to ever repay these amounts as they are beyond the basic limitation period for 
debt claims in British Columbia.  
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At June 30, 2022, the Company had a working capital surplus of $555,912 (June 30, 2021 – working capital 
of $716,306). The decrease in its working capital is due to cash being used to fund investment in property 
and equipment plus the addition of accounts payable on the RTO.  
 
Total shareholders’ equity was comprised of share capital of $3,615,291 (June 30, 2021 – 474,000), reserves 
of $3,609,102 (June 30, 2021 - $376,000) and accumulated deficit of $6,244,711 (June 30, 2021 -133,694).  
 
The Company’s forecasted fixed operating expenditures for the next 12 months are $2,501,048 detailed as 
follows: 
 

Marketing & Sales $904,000 
Wages and Salaries $1,086,360 

Rent $231,688 
Other General and Administrative Expenses $279,000 

Total $2,501,048 
 
 
The Company believes that the current capital resources and expected are revenues are not sufficient to pay 
the fixed operating expenditures for the next twelve months and is in the process of raising additional 
funding to fund its operating expenses and its development of its products. The Company will continue to 
monitor the current economic and financial market conditions and evaluate their impact on the Company’s 
liquidity and future prospects.  
 
Since the Company may not be able to generate enough cash from its operations in the foreseeable future, 
the Company will have to rely on loans from external or related parties and the issuance of equity, to fund 
ongoing operations and investment. The ability of the Company to raise capital will depend on market 
conditions and it may not be possible for the Company to issue shares on acceptable terms or at all.  
 
The Company manages its capital structure in order to ensure sufficient resources are available to meet 
operational requirements and safeguard its ability to continue as a going concern. There are no externally 
imposed capital requirements on the Company. Management considers the items included in shareholders’ 
equity (deficit) and working capital as capital. The Company manages the capital structure and makes 
adjustments to it in response to changes in economic conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying 
assets. The Company’s primary objective with respect to its capital management is to ensure that it has 
sufficient cash resources to fund the operation of the Company. To secure the additional capital necessary 
to pursue these plans, the Company intends to raise additional funds through equity or debt financing.  
 
This MD&A has been prepared on the assumption that the Company will continue as a going concern, 
meaning it will continue in operation for the foreseeable future and will be able to realize assets and 
discharge liabilities in the ordinary course of operations. Different bases of measurement may be 
appropriate if the Company was not expected to continue operations for the foreseeable future. As at June 
30, 2022, the Company has accumulated losses of $5,678,878 since inception and expects to incur further 
losses in the development of its business, all of which are material uncertainties that cast significant doubt 
about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. The Company’s continuation as a going 
concern is dependent upon its ability to attain profitable operations to generate funds or its ability to raise 
equity capital or borrowings sufficient to meet its current and future obligations. The Company manages 
its capital structure and adjusts it based on the funds available to the Company, in order to support its 
operations and business development. The Board of Directors does not establish quantitative return on 
capital criteria for management, but rather relies on the expertise of the Company's management to sustain 
development of the business.  
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The Company only recently started generating revenue and cash flows used in its operations are still 
negative; as such, the Company is dependent on external financing to fund its future intended business plan. 
The capital structure of the Company currently consists of common shares. The Company manages the 
capital structure and makes adjustments to it in the light of changes in economic conditions and the risk 
characteristics of the underlying assets. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company 
may issue new shares through private placements. Management reviews its capital management approach 
on an ongoing basis and believes that this approach, given the relative size of the Company, is reasonable. 
There was no change to the Company’s management of capital during the period ended June 30, 2022. The 
Company is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. 
 
Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates 
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make estimates 
and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosures of contingent 
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenues and 
expenses during the reporting period.  

Significant assumptions about the future and other sources of estimation uncertainty that management has 
made at the end of the reporting period, which could result in a material adjustment to the carrying amounts 
of assets and liabilities in the event that actual results differ from assumptions made, relate to, but are not 
limited to, the following: 

(a) The recoverability of receivables, prepayments and deposits that are included in the consolidated 
statements of financial position. 

(b) The fair value of stock options, warrants and compensation options which requires the estimation 
of stock price volatility, the expected forfeiture rate and the expected term of the underlying instruments. 

(c) The fair value of restricted share units which requires the estimation of the number of awards likely 
to vest on grant and at each reporting date up to the vesting date.   

(d) The fair value of the investment for which a quoted market price in an active market is not available. 

(e) The recoverability of deferred tax assets based on the assessment of the Company’s ability to utilize 
the underlying future tax deductions against future taxable income prior to expiry of those deductions. 

(f) The assessment of the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and to raise sufficient 
funds to pay its ongoing operating expenditures and to meet its liabilities for the ensuing year involves 
significant judgment based on historical experience and other factors, including expectation of future events 
that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 

These estimates and assumptions are disclosed further in Note 4 of the financial statements. 
 
Financial and Other Instruments 
 
A fair value hierarchy prioritizes the input to valuation techniques used to measure fair value as follows:  
 

Level 1 – quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;  
 



 
 

15 
 

Level 2 – inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 
liability, either directly (i.e., as prices) or indirectly (i.e., derived from prices); and  
 
Level 3 – inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (unobservable 
inputs).  

 
The carrying amounts of cash, accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities, and due to 
related parties approximate their fair values due to their short-term nature.  
 
The Company’s risk exposures and the impact on the Company’s financial instruments are summarized 
below: 
 
The Company is exposed in varying degrees to a variety of financial instrument related risks. The Board of 
Directors approves and monitors the risk management processes, inclusive of documented investment 
policies, counterparty limits, and controlling and reporting structures. The type of risk exposure and the 
way in which such exposure is managed is provided as follows: 
 
(a) Credit risk  
 
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument 
fails to meet its contractual obligations. The Company reduces its credit risk on cash by placing these 
instruments with institutions of high credit worthiness. The Company provides credit to its clients in the 
normal course of operations. It carries out, on a continuing basis, credit checks on its clients and maintains 
provisions for contingent losses. The Company’s maximum exposure to credit risk is the carrying amounts 
of cash and accounts receivable on the statements of financial position.  
 
Accounts receivable consists of trade receivables of $95,347 and $113,489 of sales tax receivable. The 
Company provides credit to very limited customer base in the normal course of business and has established 
credit evaluation via an active direct consultation with its customers to mitigate credit risk. Accounts 
receivable are shown net of any provision made for impairment of receivables. Due to this factor, the 
Company believes that no additional credit risk, beyond amounts provided for collection loss, is inherent 
in accounts receivable.  
 
Expected credit loss (“ECL”) analysis is performed at each reporting date using an objective approach to 
measure expected credit losses. The provision amounts are based on direct management interface with the 
customer. The calculations reflect the probability-weighted outcome, the time value of money and 
reasonable and supportable information that is available at the reporting date about past events, current 
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions. Accounts receivable are written off when there is 
no reasonable expectation of recovery. Indicators that there is no reasonable expectation of recovery 
include, amongst others, business failure, the failure of a debtor to engage in a repayment plan, and a failure 
to make contractual payments over the negotiated contract period. The aging analysis of accounts receivable 
is as follows: 
 
 

 June 30, 2022 June 30, 2021 
Current to 3 months $          85811                       $                -             
Over 3 months 9,536                           - 
Trade receivables $         95,347         $                 - 
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(b) Liquidity risk 
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they come 
due. The Company attempts to manage liquidity risk by maintaining sufficient cash and cash equivalent 
balances.  Liquidity requirements are managed based on expected cash flows to ensure that there is 
sufficient capital in order to meet short-term obligations. As at June 30, 2022, the Company had a cash 
balance of $1,343,681 (June 30, 2021 - $754,802) to settle current liabilities of $1,179,796 (June 30, 2021 
- $120,066). 
 
(c) Market risk 
 
Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to 
changes in market prices. Market risk comprises three types of risk: interest rate risk, foreign currency risk 
and other price risk. 
 
(d) Interest rate risk 
 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
due to changes in market interest rates. The Company’s cash is not subject to interest rate risk. The loan 
payable and convertible debentures are not subject to interest rate risk as they are a fixed rate. The Company 
is not exposed to other significant interest rate risk due to the short-term maturity of its monetary assets and 
liabilities and amounts owing being non-interest bearing or bearing fixed rates of interest. 
 
(e) Foreign exchange risk 
 
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair values of future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because they are denominated in currencies that differ from the respective functional currency. 
The Company’s sales are in US dollars and the Company’s manufacturing costs are largely denominated 
in US dollars, providing a natural hedge against the risk of foreign exchange fluctuations.  However due to 
long lead times for parts used in manufacturing the Company’s products, the Company is exposed to the 
risk of foreign currency fluctuations over time.  The Company is also exposed to fluctuations in foreign 
currencies through its operations in Japan.  The Company monitors this exposure but has entered into no 
formal hedge agreements. 
 
As at June 30, 2022, the Company was exposed to foreign currency risk through the following financial 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign source currencies. 
 
 June 30, 2022 June 30, 2021 
 US Dollar Japanese Yen US Dollar Japanese Yen 
Cash $     6,345 $        58,968 - - 
Accounts receivable 28,440 - - - 
Accounts payable 52,662 18,078,247 - - 
Total   $   87,447 $ 18,137,215 - - 

 
 
(f) Other price risk 
 
Other price risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
due to changes in market prices, other than those arising from interest rate risk or foreign currency risk. The 
Company is not exposed to significant other price risk. 
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Related Party Transactions 

Key Management Compensation  

The Company incurred the following transactions with directors, officers and companies that are 
controlled by directors of the Company. These amounts are unsecured, are non-interest bearing and 
have no fixed terms of repayment. 

 

             For the year ended June 30,  
 2022 2021 
Salary & management fees $         378,250 $               - 
Legal fees 110,543 - 
Share-based compensation expensed 275,121 - 
 $      763,914 $               - 

The following amounts are payable and due to/from related parties: 

 June 30, 2022 June 30, 2021 
Due to directors and officers $         32,767 $               - 
Due from related parties                                  - (81,500) 
Convertible debentures 313,800 0 

 $         346,567                     $  (81,500)         

a) During the period related party loans totaling $81,500 were repaid. 
b) Included in legal fees is $110,543 paid to a law firm in which the director has a partnership 

interest and is included in accounting and legal in the financial statements. 
c) Included in share-based compensation is the fair value of the vesting for the issuance of 

5,750,000 stock options granted to directors and officers of the Company. 

The fees for related party services are made on terms equivalent to those that the related parties charges 
to arm’s length parties. 

Off Balance Sheet Arrangements  
 
The Company does not have any off-balance sheet arrangements. 
 
Outstanding Share Data 
 

 June 30, 2022 Date of Report 
Common shares 63,284,468 63,721,968 
Share purchase warrants 60,108,453 60,108,453 
Stock options outstanding 7,007,550 7,007,550 
Convertible Debt 2,500,000 1,843,750 
 132,900,471 132,681,721 

 
Risk Factors 



 
 

18 
 

The Company’s business is subject to significant risks and uncertainties, which even a combination of 
careful evaluation, experience and knowledge may not eliminate.  Please refer to the Company’s Listing 
Statement dated October 29, 2021 available on SEDAR at www.sedar.com for disclosure of the risk factors 
that may materially affect the Company’s future performance, in addition to those referred to above. 

Accounting Policies 

The accounting policies followed by the Company are set out in Note 3 to the accompanying audited 
financial statements for the year-ended June 30, 2022. 

Subsequent Events 

On August 4, 2022, three tranches of convertible debt that was issued to certain related parties on the share 
acquisition on November 4, 2021 were settled by the Company. The related parties were paid $43,750 cash 
and exercised the conversion option to receive $87,500 of common shares for an issuance price of $0.20 as 
per convertible debt agreement.  
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